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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of MOS House Group Limited (the “Company”, together 
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the 
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 together with the comparative figures for 
the previous financial year.

RESULTS
The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$145.4 million and HK$166.7 million for the years ended 31 
March 2020 and 31 March 2019 respectively. The decrease in revenue stemmed from the economic contraction mainly 
caused by the Sino-US trade war, the occurrence of social movement in Hong Kong as well as the outbreak of the 
coronavirus disease during the year, which adversely impacted the normal business operations and performance of the 
Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$0.7 
million, representing a decrease in profit of approximately of HK$6.5 million from a profit of approximately HK$5.8 million 
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW
As at 31 March 2020, the Group operated 18 retail shops (31 March 2019: 19 retail shops) in Hong Kong. The retail 
shops are operated for home improvement, remodelling and furnishing materials. During the year, the Group strived to 
reduce rental costs of retail shops by means of rent reduction and rationalisation.

In addition to sales through retail shops, the Group also supplies tile products on project basis for large-scale property 
development projects and residential and commercial property renovation projects principally in Hong Kong and Macau, 
and sells tiles and bathroom fixtures to distributors located in the PRC. In order to expand its customer base in the PRC, 
the Group set up a subsidiary in Macau during the last quarter of the year to sell tiles and bathroom fixtures to building 
constructors in the PRC. The Group has placed emphasis on exploring different sales channels to increase 
competitiveness in the fast-changing business environment.

During the year under review, the Group faced various challenges, including uncertainties in the global economy over the 
Sino-US trade dispute, social unrest in Hong Kong, and the coronavirus outbreak. As such, the Group suffered a drop in 
revenue and recorded a net loss for the year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND FUTURE OUTLOOK
The Group believes that public listing status has enhanced its profile, while the net proceeds from the listing can 
strengthen its financial position and allow the Group to implement and execute its business plan. Nevertheless, due to 
the uncertainties of the Hong Kong economy, the Directors anticipate that the Group’s business will face various 
challenges in the foreseeable future, including (i) economic downturn and adverse market conditions in Hong Kong and 
the PRC; (ii) the Group being affected by the level of demand in the real estate development industry; and (iii) the Group 
being exposed to foreign currency exchange fluctuations.

Besides, the Hong Kong economy and the retailing industry are currently affected by certain international and local 
political issues, including the Sino-US trade war and the Brexit, the social unrest in Hong Kong, as well as the uncertain 
development of coronavirus disease which render the Group’s business being vulnerable to their development. As such, 
the Group has been cautious on the implementation of its expansion plan in terms of expansion of retail network and 
strategic acquisition.

To better utilize the listing proceeds, in June 2020, the Group decided to change part of unutilised listing proceeds 
originally planned for expansion of retail network and strategic acquisition, and reallocate it mainly for property 
investments in Hong Kong in order to generate more revenue, with any remaining amount as general working capital of 
the Group. The Group is considering acquisition of certain properties in Hong Kong. However, no specific acquisition of 
property was identified, nor had the Group entered into any agreement for acquisition up to the date of this annual report. 
In addition, the Group will focus to improve its profitability by (i) taking stringent cost management through rent reductions 
and cost control, (ii) expanding customer base and sales networks in the PRC market; and (iii) expanding its product mix 
and enhancing the diversity of its product offerings.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

While the future outlook is likely to continue to be challenging and performance in the year ahead will be affected by 
economic and political conditions, as well as the impacts of the coronavirus disease, the Group is optimistic about the 
prospects for a recovery once the situation has stabilised and remains confident in its long-term development and ability 
to enhance shareholders’ value based on our excellent management team with years of experience in managing the 
business.

APPRECIATION
I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all of our Shareholders, members of the Board, the senior 
management and staff of all levels for their dedication and efforts over the years. In addition, on behalf of the Board, I 
would also like to express our sincerest thanks to all our customers, suppliers, and business partners for their continuous 
support.

Simon Tso
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group is a retailer and supplier of overseas manufactured tiles in Hong Kong and Macau, specialising in high-end 

European imported porcelain, ceramic and mosaic tiles. The Group bases its operations vastly on retail business of 

overseas manufactured tiles and, to a lesser extent, bathroom fixtures in Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2020, the Group 

operated 18 retail shops, all strategically located at prime retail locations in Hong Kong for home improvement, 

remodelling and furnishing materials. Apart from retail sale, the Group also supplies tile products on project basis for 

large-scale property development projects and residential and commercial property renovation projects principally in 

Hong Kong and Macau, and sells tiles and bathroom fixtures to distributors located in the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$145.4 million, representing 

a decrease of approximately 12.8% as compared to approximately HK$166.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

Such decrease was mainly attributable to the Sino-US trade war, Hong Kong’s ongoing social unrest and the outbreak of 

coronavirus disease which have adversely affected the Hong Kong economy, as well as the investment and consumption 

sentiments of the general public.

The Group’s revenue was mainly derived from the sale of tile products (including porcelain, ceramic and mosaic tiles), 

which accounted for approximately 91.7% and 91.8% of the Group’s total revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 

and 2019 respectively; and the remaining represented the sale of bathroom fixtures and other products.

In terms of sales channels, the Group’s revenue was mainly derived from retail sales which accounted for approximately 

79.6% and 77.3% of the Group’s total revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively; and the 

remaining mainly represented revenue from sales to project customers and PRC distributors.

Gross profit and product margin

The Group’s gross profit (i.e. revenue minus cost of inventories sold) amounted to approximately HK$104.1 million for the 

year ended 31 March 2020, representing a decrease of approximately 12.0% from approximately HK$118.3 million for 

the year ended 31 March 2019, which was mainly due to the decrease in revenue. Nevertheless, the overall product 

margin remained stable at approximately 71.6% and 71.0% for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Staff costs
Staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$22.5 million, which was stable as compared to 
approximately HK$23.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Property rentals and related expenses/Depreciation on right-of-use assets
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded property rentals and related expenses of approximately HK$2.9 
million (2019: HK$52.7 million). The decrease was mainly attributed to the adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standard 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”) whereby the Group no longer recognizes rental expenses in respect of rented 
premises, and instead, recognizes depreciation on right-of-use assets and the relevant interest expense on lease 
liabilities, which amounted to approximately HK$48.8 million and HK$5.2 million respectively for the year ended 31 March 
2020, totalling approximately HK$54.0 million which was comparable to the rental expenses of approximately HK$50.1 
million included in property rentals and related expenses for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other expenses
The Group recorded other expenses of approximately HK$20.2 million and HK$28.3 million for the years ended 31 
March 2020 and 2019 respectively. The Group’s other expenses for the year ended 31 March 2020 mainly consisted of 
audit fee of approximately HK$0.6 million (2019: HK$1.1 million), bank charges of approximately HK$2.1 million (2019: 
HK$2.5 million), products delivery expenses of approximately HK$10.6 million (2019: HK$9.1 million), utilities and office 
expenses of approximately HK$2.6 million (2019: HK$2.8 million) and sundry items of approximately HK$4.3 million 
(2019: HK$3.6 million). Other expenses for the year ended 31 March 2019 also included the listing expenses of 
approximately HK$9.2 million. Other expenses recorded for the year ended 31 March 2020 remained relatively stable as 
compared to the same period last year excluding the listing expenses.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$0.7 
million, representing a substantial decrease in profit of approximately HK$6.5 million from a profit of approximately 
HK$5.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such decrease was mainly due to (i) decrease in the Group’s gross 
profit by approximately HK$14.1 million as a result of decrease in revenue; (ii) decrease in net exchange gain by 
approximately HK$2.4 million; (iii) net increase in lease-related expenses (including property rentals and related expenses, 
depreciation on right-of-use assets, and interest on lease liabilities) by approximately HK$4.2 million resulting from the 
adoption of HKFRS 16; which was partially offset by (iv) increase in other income of approximately HK$1.2 million; (v) 
decrease in net impairment loss on trade receivables of approximately HK$1.0 million; (vi) decrease in other expenses by 
approximately HK$8.1 million, including approximately HK$9.2 million in connection with the listing expenses incurred 
during the year ended 31 March 2019; and (vii) decrease in taxation expenses by approximately HK$3.1 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Capital structure
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from prior year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s pledged bank deposit and bank and cash balances totalled approximately HK$70.5 
million (2019: approximately HK$102.8 million), including approximately HK$70.1 million (2019: HK$102.3 million) 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$0.4 million (2019: HK$0.5 million) denominated in Euro, US 
dollars and Renminbi. The decrease was mainly due to the repayment of certain bank borrowings during the year.

Indebtedness
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank borrowings and a short-term unsecured loan of approximately HK$69.3 
million and HK$30 million respectively. The bank borrowings comprised approximately HK$65.4 million denominated in 
Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$3.9 million denominated in Euro, which carried floating rates of Hong Kong 
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 2.0% to 2.5% (2019: HIBOR plus 1.0% to 4.0%) or a spread below Prime Rate/
Standard Bills Rate quoted by the banks per annum, and were secured by the deposit pledged to a bank and insurance 
policies of the Group. The short-term loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at 2.5% per month and repaid on 27 April 
2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.1 times, which is calculated based on total 
borrowings divided by total equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31 March 2020 and multiplied by 100%. 
The Directors, taking into account the nature and scale of operations of the Group, considered that the gearing ratio as 
at 31 March 2020 was reasonable. The Directors, would keep monitoring the financial and liquidity position of the Group 
closely, and make appropriate financing strategy for the Group from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign exchange exposure
The Group incurs its cost of purchases in Euro while it receives its revenue in Hong Kong dollars. Accordingly, the Group 
is exposed to the currency risk and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, in particular, Euro, can increase or 
decrease the Group’s profit margin and affect the results of its operations.

In addition, fluctuations in exchange rates between HK$ and other currencies, primarily Euro, US$ and RMB, affect the 
translation of the Group’s non-HK$ denominated assets and liabilities into HK$ when the Group prepares its financial 
statements and result in foreign exchange gains or losses which will affect its financial condition and results of operations.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group recorded net exchange gains of approximately HK$0.4 million 
and HK$2.8 million respectively. During both years, the Group had not used any financial instruments for hedging 
purposes. The Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Group’s management 
closely monitors its exposure to foreign currency risk and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise.

Securities in issue
As at 31 March 2020, there were 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares in issue. There was no movement in the issued share 
capital of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Significant investment held, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies and plans 
for material investment or capital assets
There was no significant investment held, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during 
the year ended 31 March 2020. Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no plan for material investment or 
capital assets as at 31 March 2020.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had outstanding contracted capital commitments in respect of property, plant and 
equipment of approximately HK$0.4 million (2019: approximately HK$0.4 million).

Charge on assets
As at 31 March 2020, the Group pledged its bank deposit and life insurance policies of approximately HK$65 million and 
HK$4.3 million, respectively as securities for the Group’s bank borrowings. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not 
have any charge over its assets.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2020, the Group and the Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

Employees and remuneration policies
The Group had approximately 71 employees as at 31 March 2020. The Group’s staff cost, including Directors’ 
emoluments, was approximately HK$22.5 million and HK$23.6 million for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 
respectively. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on merit, performance and individual competence.

The Directors and the senior management of the Group (the “Senior Management”) receive compensation in the form of 
salaries and discretionary bonuses with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment of each 
of the Directors and Senior Management and the performance of the Group. The Group regularly reviews and determines 
the remuneration and compensation package of the Directors and the Senior Management by reference to, among other 
things, the market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Directors and the 
Senior Management and the performance of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The remuneration committee of the Board reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the 
Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the time devoted to the Group and the performance of the 
Group. The Directors may also receive options to be granted under the share option scheme adopted by the Company 
on 20 September 2018. During the year ended 31 March 2020, no share option was granted to the relevant participants 
pursuant to such scheme.

Dividend Policy
(1) Objective

It is the policy of the Company, in recommending the payment of dividends, to allow Shareholders to participate in 
the Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth.

(2) Determination Mechanism
The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders to be its goal.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders and requirements of the relevant laws, the Company shall pay annual 
dividends to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable and there is no significant 
investment or commitment made by the Group. The remaining net profits will be used for Group’s development 
and operations. This policy allows the Company to declare special dividends or any distribution of profits from time 
to time in addition to interim and/or final dividends that the Board may deem appropriate.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

(a) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

(c) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal and external factors 
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company;

(f) dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates;

(g) the Shareholders’ and investors’ expectation and industry’s norm; and

(h) any other conditions or factors that the Board deems relevant.

Any final dividends proposed by the Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of Shareholders at an 
annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may from time 
to time pay to the Shareholders interim dividends as appear to the directors to be justified by the profits of the 
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(3) Approval and Payment Procedures
Details of the procedures have been set out in Articles 133-142 of the amended and restated memorandum and 
articles of association of the Company.

(4) Review and Monitor of the Policy
The policy and the declaration and/or payment of future dividends under the policy are subject to the Board’s 
continuing determination that the policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends would be in the best 
interests of the Group and Shareholders. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting 
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend policy.

The form, frequency and amount of dividend payment by the Company are subject to any restrictions under the 
laws of the Cayman Islands and the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the 
Company. The Board reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel 
the policy at any time, and the policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company in 
respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time 
to time.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Prospects
The Group believes that public listing status has enhanced its profile, while the net proceeds from the listing can 
strengthen its financial position and allow the Group to implement and execute its business plan. Nevertheless, the Hong 
Kong economy and the retailing industry are currently affected by certain international and local political issues, including 
the Sino-US trade war and the Brexit, the social unrest in Hong Kong, as well as the uncertain development of 
coronavirus disease which render the Group’s business being vulnerable to their development. As such, the Group has 
been cautious on the implementation of its expansion plan in terms of expansion of retail network and strategic 
acquisition.

To better utilize the listing proceeds, in June 2020, the Group has decided to change part of unutilised listing proceeds 
originally planned for expansion of retail network and strategic acquisition, and reallocate it mainly for property 
investments in Hong Kong in order to generate more revenue, with any remaining amount as general working capital of 
the Group. The Group is considering acquisition of certain properties in Hong Kong. However, no specific acquisition of 
property was identified, nor had the Group entered into any agreement for acquisition. In addition, the Group will focus to 
improve its profitability by (i) taking stringent cost management through rent reductions and cost control, (ii) expanding 
more sales networks in the PRC market; and (iii) expanding its product mix and enhancing the diversity of its product 
offerings.

While the future outlook is likely to continue to be challenging and performance in the year ahead will be affected by 
economic and political conditions, as well as the impacts of the coronavirus disease, the Group is optimistic about the 
prospects for a recovery once the situation has stabilised and remains confident in its long-term development and ability 
to enhance shareholders’ value based on our excellent management team with years of experience in managing the 
business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Comparison of business plan with actual business progress
The following is a comparison of the Group’s business objectives as set out in its Prospectus and the actual business 
progress up to 31 March 2020:

Business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus

Actual business progress up to
31 March 2020

1. Progressive expansion 
in the retail network in 
Hong Kong

The Group planned to open two new shops (one 
in Wanchai and one in Mongkok) during the year 
ended 31 March 2019, two new shops (one in 
Wanchai and one in Mongkok) during the year 
ending 31 March 2020, and three new shops 
(one in Wanchai and two in Mongkok) during the 
year ending 31 March 2021.

The Group opened 2 new shops in Wanchai in 
the first quarter of 2019 and the second quarter 
of 2020 respectively. However, due to the 
uncertain market situation as mentioned above, 
the Company is more cautious on its retail 
network expansion. Before the proposed change 
of use of proceeds as further described in the 
section headed “Use of proceeds from the listing” 
below, the Group expected that the opening of 
the remaining five new shops would be 
postponed as to two shops (both in Mongkok) 
and three shops (one in Wanchai and two in 
Mongkok) during the years ending 31 March 
2021 and 2022 respectively, and the location of 
the new shops may be adjusted depending on 
the market situation by then.

2. Meeting minimum 
purchase commitment 
under new exclusive 
distribution rights with 
well-known European 
tiles, bathroom fixtures 
and wooden flooring 
manufacturers of brands 
which are considered to 
have potential in Hong 
Kong

(i) For tiles products, the Group will conduct 
market research to gain a better 
understanding of the product trend, the 
customer’s behaviour, preference and 
taste of two European brands of tile 
products. The Group plans to obtain 
product samples from the two European 
manufacturers and display in its retail 
shops or submit in project tenders for 
feedback from the market. If the products 
are well received by the market, the 
Group expects to negotiate the exclusive 
distribution agreement with the relevant 
manufacturers in the fourth quarter of 
2018 and commence the exclusive 
distribution right in the first quarter of 
2019.

In order to diversify the Group’s product offering, 
the Group entered into exclusive distribution 
agreements with three European tile suppliers 
and had placed orders with the suppliers since 
then. Due to the uncertain market situation as 
mentioned above, the Group’s pace of purchase 
of European tile products with newly acquired 
exclusive distribution rights was slower than that 
originally planned as set out in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus

Actual business progress up to
31 March 2020

(ii) For bathroom fixtures products, the 
Group will conduct market research to 
gain a better understanding of the product 
trend, the customer’s behaviour, 
preference and taste of the imported 
bathroom fixtures market. The Group 
plans to obtain product samples for 
display and market’s feedback in the 
second half of 2018. If the products are 
well received by the market, the Group 
expects to negotiate the exclusive 
distribution agreement with the relevant 
manufacturers in the fourth quarter of 
2018 and commence the exclusive 
distribution right in the second quarter of 
2019.

The above two newly opened retail shops mainly 
sell bathroom fixtures and facilitate the Group’s 
assessment of customers’ demand and 
preference for certain newly launched bathroom 
fixtures. Due to the uncertain market situation as 
mentioned above, the Group needs more time to 
assess the market demand and entered into 
exclusive distribution agreement with only one 
bathroom fixture supplier.

(iii) For wooden flooring products, the Group 
will conduct market research to gain a 
better understanding of the product trend, 
the customer’s behaviour, preference and 
taste of the imported wooden flooring 
market. The Group plans to obtain 
product samples for display and market’s 
feedback during 2019. If the products are 
well received by the market, the Group 
expects to negotiate the exclusive 
distribution agreement with the relevant 
manufacturers in the fourth quarter of 
2019 and commence the exclusive 
distribution right in the second quarter of 
2020.

Due to the uncertain market situation as 
mentioned above and the negative impact on the 
Group’s business during the year, the Group 
currently focuses on boosting the sales of tile and 
bathroom fixture products, and  has yet to 
commence market research on wooden flooring 
products.

3. Pursue strategic 
acquisition of retailers of 
overseas manufactured 
bathroom products and/
or tile products

Identifying and evaluating any potential target 
and conducting preliminary market research on 
the product portfolios of the Group’s 
competitors. If synergies could be created by 
the potential acquisitions, the Group expects to 
perform pre-acquisition due diligence and 
commence negotiations in the first half of 2019, 
and enter into formal agreement in the second 
half of 2019.

Before the proposed change of use of proceeds 
as further described in the section headed “Use 
of proceeds from the listing” below, the Group 
was in the progress of identifying and evaluating 
potential targets. Yet, no specific acquisition 
targets had been identified, nor had the Group 
commenced any negotiation with any party or 
entered into any letter of intent or agreement for 
any potential acquisition.

During the year under review, the Directors considered the Hong Kong economy, including the properties market and the 
retailing industry, was uncertain and sluggish, and was affected by certain external factors such as the development of 
the Sino-US trade war and the Brexit, the social unrest in Hong Kong, as well as the coronavirus. As such, the Group 
was more cautious on the implementation of its expansion plan and resulted in the above deviation of actual business 
progress as compared to the stated business objectives. Going forward, apart from the proposed change of use of 
proceeds as further described in the section headed “Use of proceeds from the listing” below, depending on the stability 
of the market situation and other relevant local and external factors, the implementation of the Group’s business plan 
may slow down at a reasonable pace.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING
The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on 19 October 2018 with net proceeds received from the 
listing in the amount of approximately HK$86.1 million.

As at 31 March 2020, the net proceeds were applied as follows:

Planned use 
of proceeds 
as set out in 

the Prospectus 
(Note 1)

Planned use of
proceeds as

set out in
the Prospectus

up to
31 March 
2020 (Note 1)

Utilised 
proceeds as at

31 March 
2020

Unutilised 
proceeds as at 

31 March 
2020

Original 
planned 

timeline for 
utilising the 

remaining net 
proceeds from 

the Listing 
(before the 

change of use 
of proceeds as 

described 
below)

HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million)

Progressive expansion of 
 retail network in Hong Kong

22.0 12.5 4.0 18.0 Expected to be 
fully utilised by 

31 March 2022

Meeting minimum purchase  
 commitment under new exclusive  
 distribution rights

36.5 26.5 (Note 2) 10.9 25.6 Expected to be 
fully utilised by 

31 March 2022

Strategic acquisition opportunities 27.0 – – 27.0 Expected to be 
fully utilised by 

31 March 2022
General working capital 0.6 – 0.6 –

    

86.1 39.0 15.5 70.6
    

Notes:

(1) The planned use as stated in the Prospectus are adjusted on a pro-rata basis based on the actual amount received by the 
Company.

(2) The planned amount up to 31 March 2020 represents a proportional amount based on the assumption that the annual minimum 
purchase commitment will be evenly met over a year.

The business objectives as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best estimation of the future market conditions 
made by the Group at the time of the Prospectus. The use of proceeds was applied in accordance with the actual 
development of the market.

As at 31 March 2020, approximately HK$15.5 million out of the net proceeds from the Listing had been used. The 
unused net proceeds were deposited in licensed banks in Hong Kong.
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Before the proposed change of use of proceeds as further described below, the Company intended to apply the net 
proceeds in the manner as stated in the Prospectus. However, based on the prevailing market situation, the Company 
proposed the change of use of proceeds on 18 June 2020 as detailed below.

Planned use
of proceeds

as set out
in the

Prospectus

Utilised
proceeds

up to
18 June 2020

Unutilised
proceeds

as at
18 June 2020

Change of
use of

proceeds on
18 June 2020

Expected 
timeline for 
utilising the 

remaining net 
proceeds from 

the Listing
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(Note 1)

Progressive expansion of
 retail network Hong Kong

22.0 4.0 18.0 – –

Meeting minimum purchase
 commitment under new
 exclusive distribution rights

36.5 12.4 24.1 24.1 Expected to be 
fully utilised by 

31 March 2023 
(Note 4)

Strategic acquisition
 opportunities

27.0 – 27.0 – –

Property investments
 in Hong Kong

– – – 45.0 (Note 3) Expected to be
fully utilised by 

the end of 2020

General working capital 0.6 0.6 – – –
    

86.1 17.0 69.1 69.1
    

Notes:

(3) Part of the unutilised net proceeds will be used mainly for property investments in Hong Kong, with any remaining amount as 
general working capital of the Group.

(4) It is currently expected that the amount of utilised proceeds of approximately HK$24.1 million allocated for meeting minimum 
purchase commitment under new exclusive distribution rights will be applied as to HK$6.0 million, HK$9.8 million and HK8.3 
million during the years ending 31 March 2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively.

Given (i) the global outbreak of coronavirus disease since early 2020; and (ii) the social unrest in Hong Kong since June 

2019, the local economic conditions have deteriorated sharply. In particular, the retail sector is hardly hit and the market 

demand for the Group’s products in Hong Kong remains highly uncertain. The Directors therefore consider that a more 

prudent approach in terms of business development should be adopted, and it is not an appropriate business strategy to 

expand the Group’s retail network in Hong Kong in the near future.

In addition, due to the anticipated hard time of the local and worldwide economies in the coming years amid the uncertain 

development of the coronavirus disease, the Directors consider that any assessment of the business and financial 

prospects of potential acquisition targets would involve a high degree of uncertainties and hence the risk of the 

investments. As such, the Directors consider acquisition of industry players is not a promising business strategy in the 

near future.
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The Board therefore decided to change part of the unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$45 million originally 

designated for expansion of retail network in Hong Kong and strategic acquisition, and reallocate approximately HK$30 

million to HK$35 million for property investments in Hong Kong and the balance for general working capital of the Group.

The Board considers that investment in property is generally considered low risk investment in Hong Kong despite there 
are certain risks associated with the investment, including the following: (i) investment in properties is susceptible to 
short-term market volatility affected by local economic conditions, social unrest and/or outbreak of severe contagious 
diseases; (ii) the Group’s financial results may be adversely affected by any negative fair value change of the investment 
properties in the future; (iii) no guarantee that quality tenants can be attracted and retained, and vacant property means 
zero rental income; and (iv) any dispute with tenants or default in rental payment by tenants may lead to litigation which 
will take up management time and incur legal expenses. Notwithstanding the aforesaid risks, the Board considers there 
is upside potential in terms of increase in property value, and the proposed investment in properties by the Group would 
be long-term in nature.

Moreover, Hong Kong’s property market has proven resilient in volatile environment. According to a property Index 
compiled by an estate agency in Hong Kong, secondary private residential property prices have been generally on an 
upward trend since 2003, despite various measures introduced by the Hong Kong government in recent years with a 
view to curbing property prices. Although the index only reflects private residential property prices, it can also serve as a 
good reference for commercial properties and retail shops, as they are all affected by local economy. The said property 
index has also shown a slight drop in February 2020 when compared with the index in January 2020 due to the global 
outbreak of coronavirus disease, but it has since recovered in April 2020. This has demonstrated that the property 
market in Hong Kong remains robust amid the hard time of local economy. Also, the Board believes that there will be a 
potential return of demand from China, given more entities in China may choose Hong Kong as their preferred listing 
location and place to set up their offices due to current tightening of US regulations and uncertain political issues. 
Therefore, the management expects investments in properties is a good choice of investment in such circumstances due 
to the current low interest rate environment, the potential increase in property value and high demand for properties.

Besides, the Board expects that property investments can generate constant cash flow and provide sustainable and 
stable rental income for the Group in the long run, as well as to strengthen the asset portfolio of the Group. Despite the 
risk of tenant failing to pay rents, this risk is mitigated by the market practice of requiring rental deposit before 
commencement of the lease. According to the information published on the websites of real estate agents in Hong Kong, 
the current expected rates of return of rental income of investment properties range from approximately 2.0% to 3.3% 
per annum, depending on types of properties such as residential, office and locations of the properties. On the other 
hand, the current interest rates for the funds deposited in the Company’s bank account range from approximately 
0.001% to 2% per annum, depending on the size, nature and length of the deposit, and timing of the renewal of time 
deposit. Based on the target federal funds rates announced by the Federal Reserve Board of the United States, the 
interest rates have been on a decreasing trend from 2.25%–2.5% per annum in December 2018 to 0%–0.25% per 
annum in March 2020. The Federal Reserve Board has also made it clear in a press release on 15 March 2020 that it 
expects to maintain this target range until it is confident that the economy has weathered recent events, such as the 
outbreak of coronavirus. As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US dollar, the interest rates in Hong Kong will in general 
follow the trend of interest rates in the US. A decreasing trend in interest rates means that when time deposits are due for 
renewal, the banks will offer a lower interest rate, which means a lower return for the idle cash of the Group. In addition, 
there is upside potential in terms of property value, which is not possible for a bank deposit. Therefore, the Board is of 
the view that the unutilised net proceeds could generate a better rate of return for the Group by acquiring properties for 
rental purposes, and that the benefits of investment in properties outweight the relevant risks.
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The Board also believes that property investment can help the Group obtain additional banking facilities for its principal 
business as a supplier and retailer of tiles, and rental income generated from property will improve the cashflow of the 
Group which will strengthen the Group’s bargaining position when negotiating the terms of any bank facilities. In general, 
banks in Hong Kong are keen on developing mortgage loan business with property as security, which is considered very 
low risk. As such, the banks will be willing to grant additional banking facilities with better terms to the Company for its 
tiles business, as both mortgage loan and banking facilities can be secured against the Group’s properties. In addition, 
the Group can use the mortgage loan to repay some of its bank borrowings if the interest rate on the mortgage loan is 
lower than the interest rate of the current bank borrowings, which can reduce interest payment and will not adversely 
affect the indebtedness and gearing ratio of the Company.

The Board is of the view that the property investments will not affect the Group’s allocation of resources to its principal 
business as a supplier and retailer of tiles, because minimal manpower will be involved in the operation and management 
of the property investments, including those matters related to the rental of such properties. As a matter of fact, the 
Company’s management team, with its many years of experience in tile business, will continue to lead its staff to 
contribute their skills, efforts, knowledge and experience and focus on tile retailing as its principal business.

Despite the above, the Directors will continuously review the Group’s business objectives and development, and may 
further change or modify the Group’s plans in light of the changing market conditions in order to attain sustainable 
business growth of the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Simon Tso (曹思豪), aged 47, was appointed as our Director on 25 September 2015 and re-designated as our 
executive Director on 17 December 2015. Mr. Tso is the founder, chairman and chief executive officer of our Group and 
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Tso is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company. He 
is responsible for the overall strategic planning, operations and management of our Group. Mr. Tso has over 20 years of 
experience in trading of tiles and building materials. Mr. Tso is a director of Pok Oi Hospital, a charitable organisation 
principally engaged in the provision of medical, social and educational services. He is also the president of Wanchai and 
Central & Western District Industries and Commerce Association, an industrial and commercial organisation. Mr. Tso 
obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from the University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology (which 
was merged with the Victoria University of Manchester, now known as the University of Manchester) in the United 
Kingdom in July 1997. He also received a master’s degree in business administration from the University of Liverpool in 
United Kingdom in December 1998. Mr. Tso did not hold any other directorship in listed public companies in the last 
three years. Mr. Tso is the spouse of Ms. Tsui To Fei. 

Ms. Tsui To Fei (徐道飛), aged 51, was appointed as our executive Director on 26 January 2018. Ms. Tsui joined our 
Group as the director of Regent Building Material Supplies Company Limited since June 2000. Ms. Tsui is also a member 
of the remuneration committee of the Company. She is primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning, operations 
and management of our Group. Ms. Tsui has also been a director of Asian Wealth Limited since June 2009 and Cyber 
Building Limited since July 2000, they are both investment holding companies, where Ms. Tsui has been responsible for 
making investment decisions. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Tsui was involved in family textile business. 

Ms. Tsui is the president of Rotary Club of Manhattan Hong Kong, the honorable vice president of Hangzhou Residents 
Association, the vice president of Hong Kong Central and Western District Women Entrepreneurs Association Limited, 
the vice-chairlady of Hong Kong Tianjin Business and Professional Women Association. Ms. Tsui completed her college 
education in South Hills Academy in the United States in 1990. Ms. Tsui did not hold any other directorship in listed 
public companies in the last three years. Ms. Tsui is the spouse of Mr. Tso.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ho Wing Tim (何榮添), aged 61, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 20 September 2018. 
Mr. Ho is also a member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance committee of 
the Company. From 2001 to 2006, Mr. Ho served as a director and from 2001 to 2002, as a chief executive officer of Lai 
Fung Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1125), a company listed on the Main Board and is principally engaged in property 
development and investment where he was primarily responsible for leading its development and executing its business 
strategies. Mr. Ho was the chairman of Pok Oi Hospital from 2014 to 2015. He has been the permanent advisor of Pok 
Oi Hospital Board of Directors since 2015. Mr. Ho received the Medal of Honour from the Government of Hong Kong in 
2015. Mr. Ho obtained a doctorate degree in business administration from the International American University in the 
United States in July 2013. Mr. Ho did not hold any other directorship in listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Ng Wang To (吳宏圖), aged 52, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 20 September 2018. 
Mr. Ng is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the nomination 
committee and the corporate governance committee of the Company. Mr. Ng has over 15 years of experience in fund 
management. Since April 2016, Mr. Ng has been a managing director of Well Link Asset Management Limited where he 
has been primarily responsible for its overall management. From June 2015 to March 2016, Mr. Ng served as a vice 
president of the fund management in securities and asset management department of AMTD Asset Management Limited 
where he was primarily in charge of the investment management of funds. From February to June 2015, Mr. Ng worked 
as a senior portfolio manager in Wing Lung Asset Management Limited, where he was primarily responsible for the 
management of fund. From October 2013 to January 2015, Mr. Ng worked at RHB OSK Asset Management Limited, an 
asset management company, with his last position as chief investment officer (marketing title) of the asset management 
department, where he was primarily in charge of the asset management business. From August 2006 to October 2013, 
Mr. Ng worked at Pacific Eagle Asset Management Limited with last position as an investment director, where he was 
responsible for the management of funds. From March 2003 to July 2006, Mr. Ng served as a deputy general manager 
of Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd., a subsidiary of Allianz Global Investors AG, where he was in charge of the 
investment management department and was responsible for supervising the management of mutual funds. Mr. Ng did 
not hold any other directorship in listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1993. He is 
currently licensed by the SFC to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated 
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and is a responsible 
officer of Well Link Asset Management Limited.

Ms. Law Chui Yuk (羅翠玉), aged 50, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 20 September 
2018. Ms. Law is also the chairlady of the audit committee and the corporate governance committee, and a member of 
the remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Law has over 28 years of experience in accounting and financial 
management.

From April 1998 to September 2017, Ms. Law joined Standard Chartered Bank with last position as the head of 
performance and analytics, commercial banking and transaction banking for Greater China and North Asia and Hong 
Kong where she was primarily responsible for the performance management for commercial banking and transaction 
banking businesses. From December 1995 to March 1998, Ms. Law served as a senior officer in finance division of the 
Hong Kong branch of China Construction Bank Corporation where she was primarily responsible for the financial 
accounting, management and statutory reporting, planning and budgetary control, system development, taxation and 
risk management. From March 1994 to December 1995, Ms. Law served in two private companies as an accountant 
and a management accountant where she was responsible for performing analytical review, rendering assistance to the 
enforcement of internal control, formulating financial reports and budgets. Ms. Law worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, 
an international accounting firm, from August 1991 to February 1994 with last position as a semi-senior auditor, during 
which she was primarily responsible for auditing. Ms. Law did not hold any other directorship in listed public companies 
in the last three years.

Ms. Law has been an associate of the HKICPA since April 1997, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants of the United Kingdom since March 2000. Ms. Law obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration 
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1991.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Chan Cheung (陳璋), aged 64, is the chief financial officer of our Group. Mr. Chan joined our Group in 29 November 
2017 and he is responsible for the overall financial and accounting management of our Group. Mr. Chan has over 26 
years of experience in banking, accounting, financial management and company secretarial matters. Prior to joining our 
Group, Mr. Chan was the company secretary of Richful Deyong International Business (China) Limited, a professional 
consulting service provider, from February 2017 to July 2017, where he was primarily responsible for company secretarial 
matters. From April 2009 to June 2016, Mr. Chan served as the chief financial officer and company secretary of Neo-
Neon Holdings Limited (stock code: 1868), a company listed on the Main Board and principally engaged in the 
manufacturing and sales of LED decorative lighting, where he was primarily responsible for full spectrum of finance, 
taxation, general management and company secretarial works. From August 2007 to February 2009, Mr. Chan served 
as chief financial officer and company secretary of Sun East Technology (Holdings) Limited (now known as Sino ICT 
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0365), a company listed on the Main Board and principally engaged in equipment 
manufacturing, finance lease and factoring, where he was primarily responsible for the company’s finance and control, 
management information system, and statutory reporting. From October 2002 to March 2004, Mr. Chan was employed 
by Lung Kee Metal Limited and served as the group finance manager, a subsidiary of Lung Kee (Bermuda) Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 0255), a mould bases manufacturer primarily listed on the Main Board and secondarily listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (Stock Code: L09), where he was primarily responsible for the overall 
financial and accounting functions and tax matters of the group. Mr. Chan served various positions relating to accounts, 
financial management and banking services in various companies where he was responsible for bond dealings, credit 
and marketing, preparing accounts and/or financial reporting from 1983 to 1990 and 1995 to 2002.

Mr. Chan has been a member of HKICPA since January 2001 and a member of The Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants of the United Kingdom since November 2000. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree in social science 
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1983.

Mr. Chan is also the company secretary of Inno-Tech Holdings Limited (stock code: 8202).

Mr. Tam Chi Wai (譚志偉), aged 53, is the financial controller of our Group. He joined our Group in April 2006 as the 
accounting manager. He is responsible for the overall accounting management of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, 
Mr. Tam was the assistant accountant of Techwise Electronics Limited, an electronics company, where he was primarily 
responsible for its accounting management from August 2005 to April 2006. He was the accountant and subsequently 
the assistant accounting manager of Mansfield Manufacturing Company Limited, a metal mould manufacturer, from 
January 2003 to July 2005 where he was primarily responsible for its internal audit control, the full set accounts of its 
subsidiary company and the corporate consolidation work. From March 1991 to September 2002, Mr. Tam served as an 
assistant manager of the accounting department of Epson Precision (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholesale distributor of 
computers, computer peripheral equipment and computer software and Epson Engineering (Shenzhen) Ltd, an office 
equipment manufacturing company, where he was primarily responsible for PRC accounting and taxation policy 
compliance and the accounting analysis. Mr. Tam obtained a bachelor’s degree of science in applied computing in June 
2003 and a bachelor’s degree in business administration in June 2006 from the Open University of Hong Kong.

Ms. Lau Ka Man (劉嘉文), aged 42, is the logistic and administration manager of our Group since May 2011. She joined 
our Group in April 2006 as a shipping clerk. She is responsible for supervising the logistic operations and management of 
our Group. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Lau was an export clerk of BAX Global Ltd, a logistics transportation and 
supply chain management company, where she was primarily responsible for export shipping management from June 
2004 to April 2006. Ms. Lau was a marketing assistant of Andex Jewellery Limited, a jewellery export company, where 
she was primarily responsible for developing marketing strategies from October 1999 to May 2004. From August 1998 to 
June 1999, Ms. Lau served as a temporary accounts clerk of Update International Ltd., a supplier of passenger care and 
comfort items to airlines and travel related business, where she was primarily responsible for its accounting management 
and administration. Ms. Lau graduated from the L’Amoreaux Collegiate Institute in Canada in June 1998.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the importance of sound corporate governance to the long-
term success and continuing development of the Group. Therefore, the Board is committed to upholding good corporate 
governance standards and procedures, so as to emphasis on accountability, independence, responsibility, fairness and 
transparency for the Group, and to protect the interests and create value for the Shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the 
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The 
Group established a Corporate Governance Committee with written terms of reference. Please refer to the paragraph 
headed “Corporate Governance Committee” below for details of its duties and works performed. Throughout the year, to 
the best knowledge of the Board and after the review of the Company’s performance of its corporate governance 
practices, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the Code, except for deviations 
from code provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7 as explained below.

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and 
should not be performed by the same individual.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has not separated the roles of chairman and chief executive officer 
of the Company. Mr. Tso is the chairman and also the chief executive officer of the Company and is responsible for 
overseeing the operations of the Group during such period. In view of the present composition of the Board, Mr. Tso’s 
in-depth knowledge and experience in the industry in which the Group operates and his familiarity with the operations of 
the Group, the Company believes that it is in the best interest of the Group for Mr. Tso to assume both roles as the 
Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the 
roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by 
taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Under code provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should 
attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of shareholders. An independent 
non-executive Director and a non-executive Director were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company 
held on 30 August 2019 due to other business engagements. The Company will request all the independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Director(s) to attend all future general meetings in order to comply with the 
code provision A.6.7 of the Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and responsibilities
The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting 
the success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs in the best interest of the Company and 
its Shareholders at all times. The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s overall strategies, 
setting management targets and supervision of the management’s performance. Under the leadership of the executive 
Directors, the management of the Company are delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board to operate 
the businesses and to carry out the day-to-day administration of the Group; whereas the non-executive Directors and the 
independent non-executive Directors of the Company are responsible for ensuring a high standard of financial and 
management reporting to the Board and Shareholders as well as a balanced composition in the Board so that there is a 
strong independent element in the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board 
committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the Board Committees are set out in this annual 
report.
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Composition of the Board
Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five Directors, including two executive Directors and three 
independent non-executive Directors. In particular, the composition of the Board is set out as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Simon Tso (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Tsui To Fei

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Wing Tim
Mr. Ng Wang To
Ms. Law Chui Yuk

Independent non-executive Directors
In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board was consisted of three independent non-
executive Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020. During the year ended 31 March 2020 and as at the date of 
this annual report, the number of independent non-executive Directors represents more than one-third of the Board. As 
such, there is a strong independent element in the Board to provide independent judgement. Amongst the independent 
non-executive Directors, Ms. Law Chui Yuk has the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related 
financial management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has entered into a letter of appointment with each of the independent non-executive Directors for a term 
of three years, which may be terminated earlier by no less than three months’ written notice served by either party on the 
other.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company to each of the independent non-executive Directors to confirm their 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. In this connection, the Company has received the positive 
annual confirmations from all of the three independent non-executive Directors. Based on the confirmations received and 
after annual assessment by the nomination committee of the Company at a meeting held on 29 June 2020, the Company 
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent under the Listing Rules.

Board diversity
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in December 2018, which sets out its approach to achieve diversity in 
the Board by annual review and assessment, recommendation by the nomination committee of the Company on any 
new appointment, re-election or any succession plan of any Director to the Board, and to ensure that the Board has a 
balance of skills, experience and diversity which is appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business. The selection of 
candidates for any new directorship will be based on a range of criteria, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The appointment of Directors 
will continue to be made based on merit and potential contribution by the candidate to the Board and the Company. 
Each Director’s respective biographical details is set out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management” of this annual report. The Board considers that each Director has the necessary skills and experience 
appropriate for discharging his/her duties as Director in the best interest of the Company and its Shareholders.
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After annual assessment by the nomination committee of the Company at a meeting held on 29 June 2020, the 
Company considers that, all Directors demonstrated themselves in their respective fields of expertise to perform a check 
and balance function with diversity of skills, knowledge, varied background and experience required for running an 
effective Board.

Re-election of Directors
Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors for the time 
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from 
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once 
every three years. Mr. Simon Tso and Ms. Tsui To Fei will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election thereat.

Board and General Meetings
During the year ended 31 March 2020, six board meetings were held to approve, among others, the interim results of the 
Group for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and the change of auditor, etc. The AGM will be held on 2 
September 2020 and is the second general meeting of the Company since the Listing Date.

The attendance of the respective Directors at the Board meetings are set out below:

Attendance/
Number

of meetings 
during the 

year ended
31 March 2020

Executive Directors
Mr. Simon Tso (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 6/6
Ms. Tsui To Fei 5/6

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Chuen (retired on 30 August 2019) 1/1
Mr. Sincere Wong (resigned on 1 April 2020) 5/6

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Wing Tim 6/6
Mr. Ng Wang To 6/6
Ms. Law Chui Yuk 5/6

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic communication in accordance with the 
Articles. All minutes of the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the 
decisions reached.

To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors are free to have access to the management for enquiries and to 
obtain further information when required. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their duties to the Company. All Directors have unrestricted 
access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board/committee procedures are complied 
with, and for advising the Board/committees on compliance matters.
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Directors’ and Officers’ liability
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of possible legal action against its Directors and 
senior officers.

Relationships among Board Members and Senior Management
Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual 
report, there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and 
the Senior Management.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of 
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors in respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). The Company 
has made specific enquiry to all Directors, and all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the required 
standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Directors’ Continuing Professional Development Programme
The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing professional development for the Directors 
to ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant. In this regard, the Group has always 
encouraged its Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the latest news and knowledge regarding the 
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company had provided and all Directors had attended one training course 
regarding key changes to listing rules. The Company will, if necessary, provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors 
to ensure that they keep abreast with the current requirements under the Listing Rules.

Board Committees
The Board has established a number of functional committees in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules and to assist 
the Board to discharge its duties. Currently, four committees have been established:

1. The Audit Committee was established on 20 September 2018 with its terms of reference in compliance with Rules 
3.21 of the Listing Rules, and paragraphs C.3.3 of the Code;

2. The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 September 2018 with its terms of reference in compliance 
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the Code;

3. The Nomination Committee was established on 20 September 2018 with its terms of reference in compliance with 
paragraph A.5 of the Code; and

4. The Corporate Governance Committee was established on 20 September 2018 with its terms of reference in 
compliance with the Code.

The functions and responsibilities of these committees have been set out in the relevant terms of reference which are not 
less stringent than that stated in the Code. The relevant terms of reference of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee can be found on the Company’s website 
(www.rbmsgroup.com) and the website of the Stock Exchange. All committees have been provided with sufficient 
resources and support from the Group to discharge their duties.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Ms. Law Chui Yuk, Mr. Ho Wing Tim and Mr. Ng Wang To, all 
of whom are independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Ms. Law Chui Yuk who has the appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the 
Listing Rules.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are, 
among others:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the Company’s 
external auditors, and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the Company’s external auditors;

2. to review and monitor the Company’s external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the 
audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

3. to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year report and 
review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

4. to discuss with the Company’s external auditors questions and doubts arising in the audit of annual accounts;

5. to review the statement about the Company’s internal control system (if any) as included in the Company’s annual 
report prior to submission for the Board’s approval;

6. to review the Company’s financial reporting, financial controls, internal control and risk management systems;

7. to discuss the internal control system with the Company’s management to ensure that management has performed 
its duty to have an effective internal control system;

8. to consider major investigation findings on internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative 
and management’s response to these findings;

9. to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group;

10. to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to the management in 
respect of accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

11. to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s management 
letter; and

12. to review the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the 
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance of the members of the 
Audit Committee is summarised below:

Attendance/
Number

of meetings 
during the 

year ended
31 March 2020

Ms. Law Chui Yuk (Chairlady) 4/4
Mr. Ho Wing Tim 4/4
Mr. Ng Wang To 4/4

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s interim results for the six months 
ended 30 September 2019, and discussed the change of auditors, internal controls, risk management and financial 
reporting matters. The Audit Committee had also reviewed the audited annual results for the year ended 31 March 2020 
contained in this annual report, and confirmed that this annual report complies with the applicable accounting standards, 
the Listing Rules, and other applicable legal requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made. There is no 
disagreement between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and appointment of the external 
auditors. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars“) be nominated for re-
appointment as the Company’s auditor at the AGM. The Board is of the view that the Audit Committee has properly 
discharged its duties and responsibilities during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Ng Wang To (Chairman), Ms. Law Chui Yuk and 
Ms. Tsui To Fei. Mr. Ng Wang To and Ms. Law Chui Yuk are independent non-executive Directors, and Ms. Tsui To Fei is 
an executive Director.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee include, among others:

1. to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about their remuneration proposals for other executive 
Directors;

2. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

3. to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals 
and objectives;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior 
management;

5. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

6. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment 
conditions elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

7. to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or 
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and 
not excessive;
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8. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to 
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

9. to ensure that no Director or any of his/her close associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The attendance of the 
members of the Remuneration Committee is summarised below:

Attendance/
Number

of meetings 
during the 

year ended
31 March 2020

Mr. Ng Wang To (Chairman) 2/2
Ms. Law Chui Yuk 2/2
Ms. Tsui To Fei 2/2

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee reviewed 
and made recommendations on the remuneration package of the Senior Management and Directors. The Board is of the 
view that the Remuneration Committee had properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the year ended 31 
March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Simon Tso (Chairman), Mr. Ho Wing Tim and Mr. Ng 
Wang To. Mr. Ho Wing Tim and Mr. Ng Wang To are independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Simon Tso is an 
executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, the primary responsibilities of the 
Nomination Committee include, among others:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board 
and make recommendations on proposed changes, if any, to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy;

2. to review the Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing 
the said policy;

3. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the 
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

4. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and

5. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. The attendance of the members 
of the Nomination Committee is summarised below:

Attendance/
Number of 

meetings during 
the year ended 
31 March 2020

Mr. Simon Tso (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Ho Wing Tim 2/2
Mr. Ng Wang To 2/2

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee reviewed and 
assessed (i) the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, (ii) the 
performance of each of the Directors and (iii) the independence of all independent non-executive Directors. The Board is 
of the view that the Nomination Committee had properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the year ended 
31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee comprises four members, namely Ms. Law Chui Yuk (Chairlady), Mr. Ho Wing 
Tim, Mr. Ng Wang To and Mr. Sincere Wong (up to 31 March 2020). Ms. Law Chui Yuk, Mr. Ho Wing Tim and Mr. Ng 
Wang To are independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Sincere Wong is a non-executive Director (resigned on 1 
April 2020).

With reference to the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee, its primary duties are, among others (i) 
to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the 
Board; (ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
employees and Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the corporate 
governance report.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting. The attendance of the 
members of the Corporate Governance Committee is summarised below:

Attendance
Number of 

meetings during 
the year ended
31 March 2020

Ms. Law Chui Yuk (Chairlady) 1/1
Mr. Ho Wing Tim 1/1
Mr. Ng Wang To 1/1
Mr. Sincere Wong (resigned on 1 April 2020) 1/1

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance Committee (i) 
reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance and compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements; (ii) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of the 
Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable 
to employees and Directors; and (iv) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the corporate 
governance report. The Board is of the view that the Corporate Governance Committee had properly discharged its 
duties and responsibilities during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
A dividend policy has been adopted by the Board in December 2018. Please refer to the paragraph headed “Dividend 
Policy” in the section “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report for details of the Company’s dividend 
policy.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group engaged Mazars as the Group’s external auditor to fill the casual 
vacancy arising from the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), and to hold office until the conclusion of 
the AGM. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 have been audited by 
Mazars. The remuneration paid or payable to Mazars and Deloitte for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 
respectively is set out as follows:

Services rendered

Fees paid/payable for the 
year ended 31 March

2020 2019
(HK$’000) (HK$’000)

Statutory audit services 630 1,050
Non-statutory audit services as reporting accountant for 
 listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange N/A 1,180
Tax compliance services 70 N/A

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chan Cheung (“Mr. Chan”) is the Company Secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section headed 
“Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for his biographical information.

Mr. Chan has confirmed that he took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 
March 2020 in compliance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group. The scope of the review is determined and recommended by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board 
annually. The review covers:

1. all material controls, including but not limited to financial, operational and compliance controls;

2. risks management functions; and

3. the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in connection with the accounting and financial 
reporting function of the Group and their training programmes and relevant budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee assessed once the risk management and internal control 
environment of the Group and reviewed once the internal control procedural manual of the Group and considers that the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate. The systems are designed in 
consideration of the nature of business and the organisation structure. Further, the systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure in operational system and to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The system is designed further to safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain 
appropriate accounting records and financial reporting, achieve efficiency of operations and ensure compliance with the 
Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and regulations.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has engaged external independent professionals to review its risk 
management and internal control systems and further enhance its risk management and internal control systems as 
appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit 
function and is of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more 
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit functions for the Group as the need 
arises. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to review the need for an internal audit function annually.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure timely and accurate disclosure of 
such information pursuant to the relevant provisions under the SFO and the Listing Rules, the Group has also adopted 
and implemented an inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time 
to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of disclosure requirements in relation to the Group, 
which include:

•	 all	Directors,	employees	or	any	services	providers,	who	are	in	possession	of	possible	inside	information,	covenant	
to keep such information remains confidential until it is authorized for publication;

•	 confidentiality	clause	is	included	when	the	Group	is	at	a	stage	of	preliminary	negotiation	with	any	party;

•	 the	dissemination	of	inside	information	is	timely,	efficiently	and	consistently	made	when	it	is	the	subject	of	decision	
of the Board;

•	 notification	of	blackout	period	or	prohibition	period	 to	deal	 in	securities	of	 the	Company	 to	all	Directors	and	
employees who are in possession of inside information; and

•	 the	Group	continually	keeps	all	Directors	and	employees	updated	of	 the	 latest	and	new	amendments	on	 legal	
disclosure requirements of inside information.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements and to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects the true and fair 
view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows of the Group and are in compliance with the relevant accounting 
standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the 
view that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial year have been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going 
concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of the Company’s external auditor’s responsibilities in respect of the consolidated financial statements is set 
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The AGM is a forum in which the Board and the Shareholders communicate directly and exchange views concerning the 
affairs and overall performance of the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM, the Directors (including 
independent non-executive Directors) are available to attend to questions raised by the Shareholders. The external 
auditor of the Company is also invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of the Shareholders concerning 
the audit procedures and the auditors’ report.

The AGM will be held on 2 September 2020, the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear 
business days prior to the AGM.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by Shareholders
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting 
(“EGM”). EGMs shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of 
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general 
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring 
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If, within 21 days of 
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisition(s) 
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of Directors
Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board 
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention 
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall 
have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of the Company. The period for lodgment of the notices 
required under the Article will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting 
appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum 
length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries concerning their shareholdings to the Company’s share registrars. Shareholders 
may also make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such information has been made publicly 
available by the Company. All written enquiries or requests may be forwarded to the Company’s head office or by fax at 
(852) 2572 3778.

The addresses of the Company’s head office and the Company’s share registrars can be found in the section “Corporate 
Information” of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group to the 
public through various channels, including general meeting, public announcement and financial reports. The investors are 
also able to access the latest news and information of the Group via the Company’s website (www.rbmsgroup.com).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the Company together with the Board extend their invitation to all 
Shareholders and encourage them to attend the AGM and all future general meetings.

The Shareholders may also forward their enquiries and suggestions in writing to the Company to the following address:

Address: 50/F, China Online Centre
333 Lockhart Road
Wanchai
Hong Kong

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The constitutional documents of the Company are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. 
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there had been no change in the constitutional documents of the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements (the 
“Financial Statements”) of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out 
in Note 40 to the Financial Statements of this annual report. During the Reporting Period, the Group was principally 
engaged in the retailing and supplying of overseas manufactured tiles in Hong Kong and Macau.

An analysis of the Group’s results for the Reporting Period by segments is set out in Note 7 to the Financial Statements 
of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the business of the Group, is set out in the section 
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 15 of this annual report. These discussion and analysis 
form part of this Report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s results for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 45 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend any payment of dividend for the Reporting Period.

On 10 September 2018, the Company declared dividends of HK$109,000,000 to the then sole shareholder of the 
Company. Save as aforesaid, the Directors did not recommend any payment of dividend for the year ended 31 March 
2019.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 98 of this 
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the Financial 
Statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March 2020 was 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 28 to the 
Financial Statements of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige 
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
The Group made charitable donations of approximately HK$115,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 
39 to the Financial Statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution as calculated in accordance with the Articles and 
the Companies Law Cap. 22 of Cayman Islands, was approximately HK$46.8 million inclusive of share premium and 
accumulated losses.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The major customers of the Group include some of the major project customers in Hong Kong and distributors in the 
PRC. Many of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers have established long term business relationship with the 
Group. The Directors believe that such long-term relationships represent confidence and trust from business partners 
and acknowledgement of the Group’s ability.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining good relationships with customers and suppliers to achieve its long-
term business growth and development. Accordingly, the Group has kept good communications and shared business 
updates with business partners when appropriate.

For each of the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 
less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue of the respective years.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 43.2% 
(2019: approximately 50.7%) of the Group’s total purchases. The largest supplier accounted for approximately 13.7% 
(2019: approximately 18%) of the Group’s total purchases.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates nor any shareholder (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major 
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Simon Tso
Ms. Tsui To Fei

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Chuen (retired on 30 August 2019)
Mr. Sincere Wong (resigned on 1 April 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ho Wing Tim
Mr. Ng Wang To
Ms. Law Chui Yuk

Mr. Simon Tso and Ms. Tsui To Fei shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM, and each of them, being eligible, 
would offer themselves for re-election thereat.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of the Directors and members of the senior management of the Company are disclosed in the 
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 16 to 18 in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company for a term of three years, which 
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Each of our 
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company for a term of three 
years, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. None 
of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within 
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save for the related party transactions disclosed in Note 32 to the Financial Statements of this annual report, no 
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding company 
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interests directly or indirectly subsisting at 31 
March 2020 or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered 
into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” below, there was no contract of significance between 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 
March 2020.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Note 8 to the 
Financial Statements of this annual report.

The emoluments paid or payable to the Senior Management of the Group who are not Directors were within the following 
bands:

Year ended 31 March
2020 2019

Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

  

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors, managing Directors, alternate Directors, auditors, secretary and other officers for 
the time being of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the Company from and against all 
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or 
about the execution of their duty in their offices or in relation thereto.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance which provides appropriate cover for the 
Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of 
the Directors and the Senior Management, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and 
comparable market practices. The remuneration of the Directors and the Senior Management are determined with 
reference to the economic situation, the market conditions, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each Director and 
each member of the Senior Management as well as their individual performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of which 
are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

PENSION SCHEMES
Details of the Group’s pension schemes for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 30 to the Financial Statements of 
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
For the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, each of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the 
Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”) and their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) has 
confirmed that none of them had any business or interest in any company that competes or may compete with the 
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.



MOS House Group Limited  /  Annual Report 202034

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING
In order to protect the Group’s interest in its business activities, the Controlling Shareholders (collectively, the 
“Covenantors”) entered into the Deed of Non-Competition on 20 September 2018. Under the terms of the Deed of Non-
Competition, each of the Covenantors, among others, has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company 
(for itself and for the benefit of each of its subsidiaries for the time being) that with effect from the date of listing of the 
Company on the Stock Exchange and for so long as he/it remains as a Controlling Shareholder of the Company or 
during the period when the Shares remain listed on the Stock Exchange, except for transactions contemplated under 
agreements (if any) entered or to be entered into with the Group, that he/it will not, and will procure his/its associates 
(other than the Group) not to compete directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors further undertakes that if he/it or his/its close associates other than any member of the Group is 
offered or becomes aware of any business opportunity which may compete with any business opportunity of the Group, 
he/it shall procure that his/its close associates to promptly notify the Group in writing with such required information to 
enable the Group to evaluate the merits of the relevant business opportunity and the Group shall have a right of first 
refusal to take up such opportunity. The parties shall then negotiate in good faith with respect to a collaboration for such 
new business.

The Group shall, within 30 days after receipt of the written notice (or such longer period if the Group is required to 
complete any approval procedures as set out under the Listing Rules from time to time), notify the Covenantor(s) whether 
the Group will exercise the right of first refusal. The Group shall only exercise the right of first refusal upon the approval of 
all independent non-executive Directors who do not have any interest in such opportunity. The relevant Covenantor(s) 
and the other conflicting Directors (if any) shall abstain from participating in and voting at and shall not be counted as 
quorum at all meetings of the Board where there is a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest including but not 
limited to the relevant meeting of the independent non-executive Directors for considering whether or not to exercise the 
right of first refusal.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition have been set out in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling 
Shareholders” of the Prospectus. The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the Covenantors in 
respect of its/his/her compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition during the Reporting Period and up to 
the date of this annual report.

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated with the authority to review the Deed of Non-Competition. The 
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of compliance and the confirmation provided by the 
Controlling Shareholders, and on the basis of such confirmation are of the view that the Controlling Shareholders have 
complied with the Deed of Non-Competition and the non-competition undertakings have been enforced by the Company 
in accordance with its terms.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
Reporting Period.

The Company did not redeem any of its listed securities during the Reporting Period.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Apart from the sections headed “Disclosure of Interests” and “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the 
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company 
granted to any Director or their respective associates nor was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective associates to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into 
during Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development of the regions 
where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group strives to comply with all the relevant laws and regulations in 
terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts effective measures, conserves energy and reduces 
waste. A separate report on environmental, social and governance matters will be published within three months after the 
publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-
compliance with such requirements. The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised laws and 
regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any non-compliance in any material respect with the 
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during the 
Reporting Period.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS
The Group understands that the success of the Group’s business depends on the support from its key stakeholders, 
including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure 
effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee together with the management have reviewed the accounting standards and practices adopted by 
the Group and discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters in connection with the preparation of 
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Directors confirmed that, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the latest 
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be 
independent.

AUDITOR
Mazars has been appointed by the Directors on 9 March 2020 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the resignation of 
Deloitte. Mazars will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution 
for its re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The Financial Statements for 
the Reporting Period have been audited by Mazars.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 20 September 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The terms of 
the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. 

The primary purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to Directors, employees, and any advisers, 
consultants, agents, suppliers, customers, distributors and such other persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will 
contribute or have contributed to the Group (the “Eligible Participants”), the Eligible Participants may, at the discretion of 
the Board, be granted options (the “Options”) to subscribe for shares in the Company at a price determined by the 
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotation sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a trading day, (ii) the average closing price of the 
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the date 
of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of grant of the option.

Without prior approval from the Shareholders, the total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted 
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% 
of the Shares of the Company as at the date of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange (i.e. 
200,000,000 Shares, which represents 10% of the Shares as at 31 March 2020). The number of Shares in respect of 
which Options may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the Shares of the 
Company in issue at any point in time.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of the Option on 
or before the relevant acceptance date set out in the offer letter.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon 
which the Option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period 
during which an Option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no Option 
may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted. No Option may be granted more than 10 years after the 
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the 
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption (i.e. 20 
September 2018).

No Options have been granted since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and there was no share Option 
outstanding as at 31 March 2020. 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
A. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and 

Debentures of the Company or its Associated Corporation
As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and 
their associates in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporation 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by 
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

(i) Long Position in the Shares

Name of Director Capacity/Nature
Number of 

Shares held

Percentage 
of the issued 

share capital of 
the Company

Mr. Simon Tso Beneficiary of a trust 1,500,000,000(1) 75%
Ms. Tsui To Fei Interest of a spouse 1,500,000,000(2) 75%
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Notes:

1. RB Power Limited (“RB Power”) is wholly owned by RB Management Holding Limited (“RB Management”), the 
holding vehicle incorporated in the BVI used by TMF (Cayman) Ltd., the trustee of a discretionary trust established 
by Mr. Tso (as the settlor) with Mr. Tso as one of the beneficiaries (the “Family Trust”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tso 
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by RB Power.

2. Ms. Tsui is the spouse of Mr. Tso. Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Tsui is deemed to be interested in the same 
number of Shares in which Mr. Tso is interested.

(ii) Long position in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation

Name of Director
Name of associated 
corporation Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
shareholding 

interest

Mr. Simon Tso RB Power Beneficiary of a trust 1 100%
Ms. Tsui To Fei RB Power Interest of a spouse 1(Note) 100%

Note: Ms. Tsui is the spouse of Mr. Tso. Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Tsui is deemed to be interested in the same 
number of shares in which Mr. Tso is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company nor 
their associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the 
Company or its associated corporations, which had to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
under the SFO or pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or 
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

B. Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying 
Shares of the Company
As at 31 March 2020, the interest and short positions of the persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of 
the Company) in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or required to be recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature
Number of 

Shares held

Percentage 
of the issued 
share capital 

of the Company

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee of a trust 1,500,000,000 (Note) 75%
RB Management Interest of a controlled corporation 1,500,000,000 (Note) 75%
RB Power Beneficial owner 1,500,000,000 (Note) 75%

Note: RB Power (Mr. Tso being its sole director) is wholly owned by RB Management, the holding vehicle incorporated in the BVI 
used by TMF (Cayman) Ltd., the trustee of the Family Trust, which is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Tso (as the 
settlor) with Mr. Tso and Mr. Tso’s family members as beneficiaries. By virtue of the SFO, each of TMF (Cayman) Ltd. and 
RB Management is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by RB Power.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors were not aware of any corporation which/person 
(other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) who had interest or short position in the Shares or 
underlying Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 32 to the Financial Statements, no transactions, arrangements, 
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, 
and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered into 
or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the ordinary course of business are provided under Note 
32 to the Financial Statements of this annual report. The related party transactions which constitute continuing connected 
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are summarised below.

On 20 September 2018, the Company entered into a master tenancy agreement (the “Master Tenancy Agreement”) with 
Mr. Tso and Ms. Tsui, pursuant to which Mr. Tso and Ms. Tsui agreed to, through Cyber Building Limited, Fortune 
Goldman Limited, Happy Gear Limited and Denmark Investments Limited (together referred to as the “Landlords”), lease 
six premises, being a warehouse and five retail shops, to the Group. The lease terms of the premises under the Master 
Tenancy Agreement are all from 20 September 2018 to 31 March 2021.

Mr. Tso is an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. Ms. Tsui is an executive Director and the 
spouse of Mr. Tso. Cyber Building Limited is owned as to 50% by Mr. Tso and 50% by Ms. Tsui. Fortune Goldman 
Limited, Happy Gear Limited and Denmark Investments Limited are indirectly wholly owned by Mr. Tso. As such, the 
Landlords are associates of Mr. Tso and Ms. Tsui and hence connected persons of the Company for the purpose of the 
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Master Tenancy Agreement with the Landlords 
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details of the 
relationships between the Landlords and Mr. Tso/Ms. Tsui, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” 
in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the annual caps set for the year ended 31 March 2020 under the Master Tenancy 
Agreements regarding the rental payments (in aggregate) to Cyber Building Limited, Fortune Goldman Limited, Happy 
Gear Limited and Denmark Investments Limited were HK$6,360,000, HK$4,920,000, HK$2,520,000 and HK$ 
3,360,000, respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2020, rental payments to Cyber Building Limited, Fortune 
Goldman Limited, Happy Gear Limited and Denmark Investments Limited amounted to approximately HK$6,360,000, 
HK$4,920,000, HK$2,520,000 and HK$3,360,000 respectively, which did not exceed the respective applicable annual 
caps for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Company applied for, and the Stock Exchange granted a waiver from strict compliance with the announcement, 
circular and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements of the Listing Rules in relation to the Master Tenancy 
Agreement. The Company complied with all other relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS UNDER THE LISTING RULES
The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) have reviewed the continuing connected transactions 
and confirmed that they have been entered into on normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course of business 
of the Group, and in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the continuing connected transactions on terms 
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company had reviewed the continuing connected transactions and provided a letter to the Board in 
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and confirmed, inter alia, that the continuing connected transactions 
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the continuing connected transactions and 
the continuing connected transactions have not exceeded the annual caps disclosed in the Prospectus.
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2020 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The forthcoming AGM will be held at the head office of the Company at 50/F, China Online Centre, 333 Lockhart Road, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong, on 2 September 2020 at 11:00 a.m..

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from 28 August 2020 to 2 September 2020 (both days inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will 
be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM, all share transfer documents 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer 
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s 
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 27 August 2020. All persons who are registered holders of 
the Shares on 2 September 2020, the record date of the AGM, will be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(1) Placing of new shares

On 11 May 2020, the Company entered into a placing agreement to place through a placing agent up to 
400,000,000 new shares at a price of HK$0.04 per share. The new shares were allotted and issued under the 
general mandate granted to the Directors at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 30 August 2019. The 
placing of 400,000,000 new shares was completed on 11 June 2020 with net proceeds of approximately HK$15.7 
million which will be used as general working capital of the Company.

(2) Change in use of proceeds from share offer
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 18 June 2020, the Company decided to change part of the 
net proceeds from the listing originally planned for (i) progressive expansion of retail network in Hong Kong; and (ii) 
strategic acquisition opportunities to strengthen the Group’s market leadership and further enhance its 
competitiveness in the tile retailing industry, and reallocate the relevant unutilized proceeds as property investments 
in Hong Kong for rental purposes and general working capital purpose. The proposed change of use of the 
remaining net proceeds as at 18 June 2020 is detailed in the sub-section headed “Use of proceeds from the listing” 
in the “Management discussion and analysis” section of this annual report.

(3) Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)
In view of the outbreak of COVID-19 in January 2020 in the PRC, the PRC authority has taken nation-wide 
prevention and control measures. The COVID-19 has certain impacts on the business operation of the Group and 
the global economy in general. The extent of such impacts depends on the duration of the pandemic and the 
implementation of regulatory policies and relevant protective measures. The Group would closely monitor the 
development and status of the outbreak of the COVID-19 and continue to assess its impacts on the financial 
position and operating results of the Group and take necessary actions to mitigate any potential impact brought by 
the outbreak of COVID-19.

At the date of authorisation of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the 
Group was unable to reliably estimate the financial impact of the outbreak of COVID-19.

(4) Advance from a director
Subsequent to end of the Reporting Period, Mr. Tso advanced HK$25,800,000 to the Group. The amounts are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any important event requiring disclosure that has been taken place 
subsequent to 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Simon Tso
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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中審眾環（香港）

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOS House Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MOS House Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to 97, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 
31 March 2020, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the 
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to notes 2, 4, 18 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s net trade receivables 
amounting to approximately HK$48,188,000. Loss 
allowance for expected credit loss (“ECL”) amounting to 
approximately HK$5,591,000 has been provided on 
these trade receivables.

Management of the Group estimates the amount of 
lifetime ECL on (i) trade receivables from customers 
located in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC 
Distributors”), trade receivables with aggregated 
s i g n i f i c a n t  o u t s t a n d i n g  b a l a n c e s  e x c e e d i n g 
HK$1,000,000 and credit-impaired trade receivables 
individually; and (ii) remaining trade receivables based on 
a provision matrix through grouping of various debtors 
that have similar loss patterns, after considering the past 
due status of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss 
rates are based on internal credit rating which reflect 
credit risk characteristics with reference to historical 
observed default rates over the expected life of the 
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information.

Significant degree of management judgement was 
involved in evaluating the ECL of the Group’s trade 
receivables as at 31 March 2020.

Our key procedures in relation to the impairment 
assessment of trade receivables:

•	 Understanding	key	controls	on	how	the	management	
estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables;

•	 Understanding	and	assessing	the	appropriateness	of	
management’s methodology for identifying internal 
credit rating of trade receivables which reflect the 
credit risk characteristics;

•	 Evaluating	 the	 reasonableness	of	 the	 credit	 loss	
allowance on individually impaired trade receivables 
on a sample basis at 31 March 2020, with reference 
to internal credit rating assigned based on historical 
observed default rate of the debtors and forward-
looking information;

•	 Testing	 the	accuracy	of	 trade	 receivables	past	due	
ageing analysis as at 31 March 2020, on a sample 
basis, by comparing individual items in the analysis 
with the relevant sales invoices and monthly 
statement for sales;

•	 Challenging	management’s	basis	and	 judgement	 in	
determining credit loss allowance on trade receivables 
as at 31 March 2020, including their identification of 
credit-impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness 
of management’s grouping of the remaining trade 
debtors into different categories in the provision 
matrix, and the basis of estimated loss rates applied 
in each category in the provision matrix (with 
reference to historical observed default rate and 
forward-looking information); and

•	 Testing	subsequent	settlements	of	trade	receivables,	
on a sample basis, by inspecting support ing 
documents in relation to cash receipt from trade 
debtors subsequent to the end of the current 
reporting period.
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Provision for inventories

Refer to notes 2 ,4 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 March 2020, inventories were stated at 
HK$79,014,000, comprising cost of approximately 
HK$93,190,000 less provis ion of approximately 
HK$14,176,000. Significant management judgement was 
required to assess whether the carrying amount of these 
inventories was higher than the net realisable value. 
Judgements were also required in identifying the slow-
moving and obsolete inventories as they were based on 
forecasted inventory sales.

Our key procedures in relation to management’s  
assessment of provision for inventories included:

•	 Understanding	management’s	process	of	 identifying	
the slow-moving and obsolete inventories and 
calculating the provisions;

•	 Assessing	the	provisions	by	comparing	the	ageing	of	
inventories and the subsequent sale of inventories; 
and

•	 Testing	inventories	to	assess	if	they	are	stated	at	the	
lower of cost or net realisable value by comparing the 
actual sales value to the carrying value of inventories 
on a sample basis.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the 2020 annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	control	 relevant	 to	 the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	 that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	the	
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	 the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
Eunice Y M Kwok
Practising Certificate number: P04604
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2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 145,369 166,694

Other income 6 2,211 988

Other gains and losses 6 419 2,804

Net impairment losses on trade receivables 36 (1,355) (2,392)

Cost of inventories sold (41,220) (48,421)

Staff costs 10 (22,502) (23,594)

Depreciation (50,346) (1,698)

Property rentals and related expenses (2,871) (52,743)

Other expenses (20,238) (28,311)

Finance costs 9 (10,272) (4,445)
  

(Loss) Profit before taxation 10 (805) 8,882

Income tax credit (expense) 11 73 (3,083)
  

(Loss) Profit and total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (732) 5,799
  

(Loss) Profit and total comprehensive (loss) income for 
 the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (655) 5,824
 Non-controlling interests (77) (25)

  

(732) 5,799
  

(Loss) Earnings per share 13 HK cents HK cents
 Basic (0.03) 0.34

  

 Diluted (0.03) 0.34
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2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 3,392 4,495
Right-of-use assets 15 84,948 –
Deferred tax assets 16 3,020 1,572
Deposits and prepayments 19 8,216 17,156
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 6,455 –

  

106,031 23,223
  

Current assets
Inventories 17 79,014 75,272
Trade receivables 18 48,188 46,557
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 19 10,026 8,815
Amount due from a director 21 – 1,337
Amounts due from related companies 22 – 800
Tax recoverable 2,370 688
Pledged bank deposit 23 65,000 65,453
Bank balances and cash 23 5,500 37,321

  

210,098 236,243
  

Current liabilities
Trade payables 24 17,827 19,186
Other payables and accrued charges 25 7,437 6,489
Contract liabilities 26 7,024 7,976
Lease liabilities — current portion 15 49,224 –
Amount due to a director 21 2,858 –
Tax payable 1,340 41
Bank and other borrowings 27 99,327 137,702

  

185,037 171,394
  

Net current assets 25,061 64,849
  

Total assets less current liabilities 131,092 88,072
  

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities — non-current portion 15 43,852 –

  

NET ASSETS 87,240 88,072
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 20,000 20,000
Reserves 67,240 67,901

  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 87,240 87,901
Non-controlling interests – 171

  

TOTAL EQUITY 87,240 88,072
  

These consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 97 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 29 June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Simon Tso Ms. Tsui To Fei
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Attributable to owners of the Company     

Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserve

Retained
profits Sub-total Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2018 – – 17 109,945 109,962 109,962 196 110,158
Adjustment upon application of 
 HKFRS 9 – – – (1,540) (1,540) (1,540) – (1,540)

        

At 1 April 2018 (restated) – – 17 108,405 108,422 108,422 196 108,618
        

Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – 5,824 5,824 5,824 (25) 5,799

        

Transactions with owners:
Dividend declared – – – (109,000) (109,000) (109,000) – (109,000)
Issue of shares 5,000 90,000 – – 90,000 95,000 – 95,000
Capitalisation issue 15,000 (15,000) – – (15,000) – – –
Transaction costs directly 
 attributable to issue of shares – (12,345) – – (12,345) (12,345) – (12,345)

        

20,000 62,655 – (109,000) (46,345) (26,345) – (26,345)
        

At 31 March 2019 and 
 1 April 2019 20,000 62,655 17 5,229 67,901 87,901 171 88,072

        

Loss and total comprehensive 
 loss for the year – – – (655) (655) (655) (77) (732)

        

Transaction with owners:
Changes in ownership interests 
 in a subsidiary that do not 
 result in a loss of control 
 (note 31) – – – (6) (6) (6) (94) (100)

        

At 31 March 2020 20,000 62,655 17 4,568 67,240 87,240 – 87,240
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2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) Profit before taxation (805) 8,882
Depreciation 50,346 1,698
Loss on written-off of property, plant and equipment – 17
Interest income (1,741) (657)
Interest expenses 10,272 4,445
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (446) –
Changes in working capital
 Increase in inventories (3,742) (1,874)
 Increase in trade receivables (1,631) (15,581)
 Increase in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (3,670) (614)
 Decrease in trade payables (1,359) (16,091)
 Increase (Decrease) in other payables and accrued charges 1,809 (5,758)
 (Decrease) Increase in contract liabilities (952) 400

  

Net cash from (used in) operations 48,081 (25,133)
Income tax paid (1,758) (5,144)

  

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 46,323 (30,277)
  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (429) (2,430)
Bank interest received 1,076 657
Repayments from a director 4,195 1,208
Repayments from related companies – 54,473

  

Net cash from investing activities 4,842 53,908
  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of non-controlling interests of a subsidiary (100) –
Net proceeds from issue of shares – 82,875
Interest paid (10,272) (4,445)
Repayment to a related company – (6,463)
New bank and other borrowings raised 30,000 100,055
Repayment of bank borrowings (70,830) (98,097)
Principal portion of lease payments (34,692) –

  

Net cash (used in) from financing activities 33 (85,894) 73,925
  

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (34,729) 97,556

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the reporting period 95,226 (2,330)
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the reporting period 23 60,497 95,226
  



49

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Annual Report 2020 / MOS House Group Limited

1. GENERAL
MOS House Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with 
limited liability under the Cayman Companies Law, and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the Company’s registered office and the principal place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins 
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and 50/F, China Online Centre, 333 Lockhart 
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

Its immediate holding company is RB Power Limited (“RB Power”) and its ultimate holding company is RB 
Management Holding Limited (the “Trust Company”), both of which are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands 
(“BVI”). They are controlled by Mr. Simon Tso (“Mr. Tso”), an executive director of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in 
note 40 to these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional currency 
of the Company.

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies 
adopted in the 2019 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the following new/revised 
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year. Except for HKFRS 16, the adoption of 
the new/revised HKFRSs does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs
Annual Improvements Project — 2015–2017 Cycle
HKAS 12: Income tax consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as equity
The amendments clarify that (a) the income tax consequences of dividends are recognised in profit or loss, other 
comprehensive income or equity according to where the past transactions or events that generated the 
distributable profits were originally recognised and (b) these requirements apply to all income tax consequences of 
dividends as defined in HKFRS 9.

HKAS 23: Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
The amendments clarify that (a) if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is 
ready for its intended use or sale, it becomes part of the funds an entity borrows generally and (b) funds borrowed 
specifically to obtain an asset other than a qualifying asset are included as part of general borrowings.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The Interpretation supports the requirements in HKAS 12 Income Taxes by specifying how to reflect the effects of 
uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.

Amendments to HKAS 19: Employee Benefits
The amendments require the use of updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the 
remainder of the reporting period after a change is made to a plan.

Amendments to HKFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets with negative compensation can be measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income instead of at FVPL if specified conditions are 
met.

HKFRS 16: Leases
HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17: Leases and related Interpretations for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. It significantly changes, among others, the lessee accounting by replacing the dual-model under HKAS 17 
with a single model which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the rights and 
obligations created by all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
For lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those 
two types of leases differently. HKFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessees and 
lessors.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time at 1 April 2019 (i.e. 
the date of initial application, the “DIA”) using the modified retrospective approach in which comparative information 
has not been restated. Instead, the Group recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an 
adjustment to the balance of retained profits or other components of equity, where appropriate, at the DIA.

The Group has also elected to use the transition practical expedient not to reassess whether a contract was, or 
contained, a lease at the DIA and applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying HKAS 17 and to contracts entered into or changed on or after the DIA that are identified as leases 
applying HKFRS 16.

As lessee
Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts were classified as operating or finance lease in accordance with 
the Group’s accounting policies applicable prior to the DIA.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted for the leases in accordance with the transition provisions of 
HKFRS 16 and the Group’s accounting policies applicable from the DIA.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

As lessee — leases previously classified as operating leases
The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases previously classified as operating leases at 
the DIA, except for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, and applied the following practical 
expedients on a lease-by-lease basis.

(a) Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

(b) Adjusted the right-of-use assets at the DIA by the provision for onerous leases recognised immediately before 
the DIA by applying HKAS 37, as an alternative to performing an impairment review at the DIA.

(c) Did not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases for which the lease term ends within 12 
months of the DIA.

(d) Excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use assets at the DIA.

(e) Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the 
lease.

At the DIA, except for those that were previously or will be accounted for as investment property using the fair value 
model, right-of-use assets were, on a lease-by-lease basis, measured at either:

(a) their carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement date, but discounted using 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the DIA; or

(b) an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
relating to the lease recognised immediately before the DIA.

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate at the DIA. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease 
liabilities at the DIA is 5.85%.

The reconciliation of operating lease commitments disclosed applying HKAS 17 at 31 March 2019 and lease 
liabilities recognised at the DIA is as follows:

HK$’000

Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 98,227
 

Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the DIA 91,852
Less: Rental prepayment previously not deducted from operating lease commitments (3,660)

 

Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 88,192
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

At the DIA, all right-of-use assets were presented within the line item “right-of-use assets” on the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Besides, lease liabilities were shown separately on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. As a result, transfer was made at the DIA to reflect the changes in presentation:

Note

Carrying amount 
under HKAS 17 

at 31 March 
2019

Reclassification 
on adoption of 

HKFRS 16

Carrying amount 
under HKFRS 16 

at 1 April 
2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Right-of-use assets – 92,830 92,830
Rental and utility deposits (a) 11,723 (978) 10,745
Rental prepayment 3,660 (3,660) –

Liabilities
Lease liabilities – (88,192) (88,192)

   

15,383 – 15,383
   

Note:

(a) Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered refundable rental deposits paid as rights and obligations under 
leases to which HKAS 17 applied. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not 
payments relating to the right to use of the underlying assets and were adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at 
transition. Accordingly, HK$978,000 which represented the present-value effect of such deposits was adjusted from 
refundable rental deposits paid to right-of-use assets.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

Basis of measurement
The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except 
for the payments for life insurance policies which are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policy 
as set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the Company using 
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value 
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company and 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect 
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest determined 
at the date when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would 
be required if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, 
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries 
are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to its 
recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries 
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost 
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and equipment 
over their estimated useful lives from the date on which they are available for use and after taking into account their 
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years or the lease term
Furniture and equipment 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 33 1/3%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in 
profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from 
the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement 
and an associated liability for the amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement
Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component) are initially recognised at 
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); (iii) equity investment measured at FVOCI; or (iv) 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Company’s business model for managing 
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not 
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for managing 
them, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period 
following the change in the business model (the “reclassification date”).

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation 
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, refundable rental 
deposits, pledged bank deposit and bank balances and cash.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

2) Financial assets at FVPL
These investments include financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including 
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL, financial 
assets resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 
applies and financial assets that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair 
value, with any resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which includes any dividend or interest 
earned on the financial assets.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a designated and effective hedging 
instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include payments for life insurance policies.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition
Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities. All 
financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be 
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer of the contract to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder of the contract for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract is initially recognised as 
deferred income within trade and other payables at fair value (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can 
otherwise be reliably estimated).
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

Subsequently, the financial guarantee is measured at the higher of (i) the amount initially recognised less, when 
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with HKFRS 15 and (ii) the amount of the 
loss allowance determined in accordance with the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model under HKFRS 9, unless the 
financial guarantee is measured at FVPL or arises from a transfer of a financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 
9 (including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from a director and related companies, 
pledged bank deposit, bank balances and financial guarantee contracts). The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually 
for the customers located in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC Distributors”) and trade receivables with 
aggregated outstanding balances exceeding HK$1,000,000, while the remaining trade receivables have been 
assessed collectively using a provision matrix grouped with past due status.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment 
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default 
occurring since initial recognition.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the 
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both 
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and 
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly:

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	deterioration	 in	 the	 financial	 instrument’s	external	 (if	available)	or	 internal	
credit rating;

•	 significant	deterioration	 in	external	market	 indicators	of	credit	 risk,	e.g.	a	significant	 increase	 in	 the	credit	
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing	or	forecast	adverse	changes	in	business,	financial	or	economic	conditions	that	are	expected	to	cause	
a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	deterioration	in	the	operating	results	of	the	debtor;

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	adverse	change	in	the	regulatory,	economic,	or	technological	environment	
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group 
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default; ii) the borrower has a strong capacity 
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and iii) adverse changes in economic and business 
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual 
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or 
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is 
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. 
In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial 
guarantee contract, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the 
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers that default has occurred when the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the 
Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more 
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial assets have been occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are 
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice when appropriate. Any 
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss 
if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default 
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the 
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected loss is the 
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts 
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will 
apply a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are 
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the 
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument level 
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following bases:

•	 Nature	of	financial	instruments	(i.e.	the	Group’s	trade	and	other	receivables	are	each	assessed	as	a	separate	
group);

•	 Past-due	status;

•	 Nature,	size	and	industry	of	debtors;	and

•	 External	credit	ratings	where	available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share 
similar credit risk characteristics.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss 
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, 
cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an impairment reversal or loss in profit or loss for all 
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the 
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid 
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts. For classification in the statement of financial position, cash equivalents 
represent assets similar in nature to cash and which are not restricted as to use.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control of the goods or 
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

•	 the	customer	simultaneously	receives	and	consumes	the	benefits	provided	by	the	Group’s	performance	as	
the Group performs;

•	 the	Group’s	performance	creates	and	enhances	an	asset	that	the	customer	controls	as	the	Group	performs;	
or

•	 the	Group’s	performance	does	not	create	an	asset	with	an	alternative	use	to	the	Group	and	the	Group	has	
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

Sale of tiles and bathroom fixtures is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control of the 
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the product is delivered to customer and title is 
passed.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or 
before payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a 
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration 
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a 
contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group’s 
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is 
presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For the business of trading tiles, it is common for the Group to receive from the customer the whole or some of the 
contractual payments before the services are completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue 
recognition for such transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue. During 
that period, any significant financing components, if applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be 
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in the currency of Hong Kong dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the retranslation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for those arising on the retranslation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the 
gains or losses are also recognised directly in equity.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase 
and, where applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition, is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all 
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment 
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group 
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately to profit 
or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases
Applicable from 1 April 2019
The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments 
associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative standalone price of the lease 
component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to be part of the total 
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring 
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease 
transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option in which case depreciation is provided over the 
estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises 2 years
Retail shops 2 to 3 years
Warehouse 3 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date of the contract.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the right 
to use the underlying asset, if any, during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily 
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the lease payments arising 
from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a 
purchase option.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use 
asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the 
measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or 
loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 
the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as 
described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate over the revised lease term.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of 
the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full 
termination of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease 
in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a 
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Applicable before 1 April 2019
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event 
that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The 
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in 
which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans
The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administered fund.

Long service payments
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments under the Employment Ordinance is the amounts of 
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior periods. The obligation 
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair 
value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.

Taxation
Taxation represents the sum of the income tax expense currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is 
intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as a deduction from the 
carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset by equal annual instalments.

The benefit of a government loan received at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant. The 
benefit of the below-market rate of interest shall be measured as the difference between the initial fair value of the 
loan and the proceeds received.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each holding company, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the 
Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services 
to the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes 
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the 
purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and 
geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the type or 
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the 
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a 
majority of these criteria.
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3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8 Definition of Material [1]

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 and 9 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform [1]

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business [2]

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concession [3]

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts [4]

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
 and its Associate or Joint Venture [5]

[1] Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
[2] Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
[3] Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
[4] Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
[5] Effective date yet to be determined

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material 
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going 
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Provision of ECL for trade receivables
The management of the Group measures lifetime ECL of the trade receivables based on (i) trade receivables from 
PRC Distributors, trade receivables with aggregated significant balances exceeding HK$1,000,000 and credit-
impaired trade receivables that are assessed individually; and (ii) remaining trade receivables that are based on 
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that have similar loss patterns, after considering the past due 
status of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed default rates over the 
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information. The assessment of credit risk of trade 
receivables involves high degree of estimation uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are less than 
expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise 
accordingly in future periods.

Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
selling expenses necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the 
historical experience of selling products of similar nature. Management of the Group will reassess the estimations 
on a product-by-product basis at the end of the reporting period and write down obsolete inventories when 
necessary.

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities as lessee
The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to discount future lease payments since interest rates 
implicit in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers 
to a rate that is readily observable as the starting point and then applies judgement and adjusts such observable 
rate to determine the incremental borrowing rate.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies
Lease term of contracts with extension options — as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised. The Group has lease contracts that 
include extension options. The Group applies judgement and considers all relevant factors that create an economic 
incentive for it to exercise the extension in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the 
options to extend the lease and considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise 
the extension. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term upon the occurrence of a 
significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise 
the extension option.

5. REVENUE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Types of products:
— Porcelain tiles 130,097 144,254
— Ceramic tiles 1,863 4,769
— Mosaic tiles 1,325 4,072
— Bathroom fixtures and others 12,084 13,599

  

145,369 166,694
  

Sales channel:
Retail 115,722 128,786
Other 29,647 37,908

  

145,369 166,694
  

The above revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is recognised at a point in time and at fixed 
price.

6. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income
Compensation income 22 –
Bank interest income 1,076 657
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL 446 –
Interest income on rental deposits 665 –
Others 2 331

  

2,211 988
  

Other gains and losses
Net exchange gain 419 2,821
Loss on written-off of property, plant and equipment – (17)

  

419 2,804
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
For the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the 
chief executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and financial position of the Group as a whole prepared 
based on the same accounting policies as set out in note 2. Since the Group has only one single operating 
segment (i.e. trading of tiles and bathroom fixtures), no further analysis of this single segment is presented.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong and Macau. The following table provides an analysis 
of the Group’s revenue from external customers by geographical market in which the transactions are located:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 128,920 166,694
Macau 16,449 –

  

145,369 166,694
  

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and 
deferred tax assets) in which the assets are located:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 88,340 4,495
  

Information about major customers
No individual customer was accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during both years.

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and receivable by the Company’s directors disclosed 
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are 
as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020
Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors

   

Mr. Tso
Ms. Tsui 

To Fei

Mr. Leung 
Wai Chuen 

(retired on 
30 August 

2019)

Mr. Sincere 
Wong 

(resigned on 
1 April 
2020)

Mr. Ho 
Wing Tim

Mr. Ng 
Wang To

Ms. Law 
Chui Yuk Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees (note a) – – 125 240 240 240 240 1,085
Other emoluments:
Salaries and other benefits (note a) 2,916 816 – – – – – 3,732
Discretionary bonus (note b) – – – – – – – –
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 18 18 – – – – – 36

        

Total emoluments 2,934 834 125 240 240 240 240 4,853
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019
Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors

   

Mr. Tso
Ms. Tsui 

To Fei
Mr. Leung 

Wai Chuen

Mr. Sincere 
Wong 

(appointed on 
29 January 

2019)
Mr. Ho 

Wing Tim
Mr. Ng 

Wang To
Ms. Law 
Chui Yuk Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees (note a) – – 300 43 127 127 127 724
Other emoluments:
Salaries and other benefits (note a) 2,874 607 – – – – – 3,481
Discretionary bonus (note b) 69 49 500 – – – – 618
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 18 18 – – – – – 36

        

Total emoluments 2,961 674 800 43 127 127 127 4,859
        

Notes:

a. The emoluments of executive directors stated above were for their services in connection with management of the 
affairs of the Company and subsidiaries. The emoluments of non-executive directors and independent non-executive 
directors state above were for their services in connection with their roles as directors of the Company.

b. Discretionary bonus was determined by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the relevant individual within 
the Group and the Group’s performance.

c. Mr. Tso acts as the chairman and chief executive of the Group.

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company has waived any 
remuneration during both years.

(B) Employees’ emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2019: one) were directors of the 
Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the remaining three 
(2019: four) highest paid employees who were neither a director nor chief executive of the Company is as 
follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 2,220 2,893
Discretionary bonus 258 890
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 54 72

  

2,532 3,855
  

The emoluments of these highest-paid non-director employees were within the following bands:

2020 2019
Number of 
employees

Number of 
employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

  

3 4
  

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest-paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years.
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9. FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank borrowings 5,042 4,445
Interest on lease liabilities 5,230 –

  

10,272 4,445
  

10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
This is stated after charging:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ emoluments)
Salaries and other benefits 21,738 22,826
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 764 768

  

22,502 23,594
  

(b) Other expenses
Auditor’s remuneration 630 1,050
Bank charges 2,073 2,485
Product delivery expenses 10,585 9,071
Utility and office expenses 2,635 2,839
Sundry items 4,315 3,698
Listing expenses – 9,168

  

20,238 28,311
  

(c) Other items
Depreciation:
— Property, plant and equipment 1,532 1,698
— Right-of-use assets 48,814 –
Operating lease expenses in respect of rented premises – 50,066
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11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
The two-tiered profits tax rates regime has been implemented from the year of assessment 2018/2019, under 
which the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and assessable 
profits above HK$2,000,000 are taxed at the rate of 16.5%. The profits of other group entities in Hong Kong not 
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime are taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Macau Corporate Income Tax has been provided at the rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profits of the 
Macau subsidiary during the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group did not derive any profit from Macau during 
the year ended 31 March 2019.

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
 Hong Kong Profits Tax
  Current year – 3,647
  Under(Over) provision in prior years 35 (84)

  

35 3,563
 Macau Corporate Income Tax
  Current year 1,340 –

  

1,375 3,563
Deferred taxation
 Credit for the year (note 16) (1,448) (480)

  

(73) 3,083
  

Reconciliation of income tax (credit) expenses

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) Profit before taxation (805) 8,882
  

Income tax at domestic income tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) (133) 1,466
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction (509) –
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime – (165)
Non-deductible expenses 699 1,976
Tax exempt revenue (74) (34)
Under (Over)provision in prior years 35 (84)
Others (91) (76)

  

Tax (credit) expenses for the year (73) 3,083
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12. DIVIDEND

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividends – 109,000
   

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 
2019.

No interim dividend was declared during the year ended 31 March 2020. During the year ended 31 March 2019, 
the Company declared dividends of HK$109,000,000 to the then sole shareholder of the Company. The dividends 
were settled through the amounts due from a director and related companies under the instruction of Mr. Tso.

13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share is based on (loss) profit attributable to the owners 
of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss) earnings per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 
March 2020 and 2019 as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 
March 2020 and 2019.

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share are based on:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, 
 for the purpose of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (655) 5,824

  

No. of shares
2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, 
 for the purpose of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share 2,000,000,000 1,724,658,000
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture 
and 

equipment
Computer 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying 
 amount — year ended 
 31 March 2019
At 1 April 2018 2,876 658 144 102 3,780
Additions 2,014 319 97 – 2,430
Written off – (17) – – (17)
Depreciation (1,277) (266) (53) (102) (1,698)

     

At 31 March 2019 3,613 694 188 – 4,495
     

Reconciliation of carrying 
 amount — year ended 
 31 March 2020
At 1 April 2019 3,613 694 188 – 4,495
Additions 327 68 34 – 429
Depreciation (1,202) (272) (58) – (1,532)

     

At 31 March 2020 2,738 490 164 – 3,392
     

At 31 March 2019
Cost 11,250 4,622 1,518 4,427 21,817
Accumulated depreciation (7,637) (3,928) (1,330) (4,427) (17,322)

     

3,613 694 188 – 4,495
     

At 31 March 2020
Cost 11,577 4,690 1,552 4,427 22,246
Accumulated depreciation (8,839) (4,200) (1,388) (4,427) (18,854)

     

2,738 490 164 – 3,392
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Right-of-use assets
  

Office 
premises

Retail 
shops Warehouse Total

Lease 
liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying 
 amount — year ended 
 31 March 2020
As beginning of the reporting 
 period — upon adoption 
 of HKFRS 16 1,051 90,445 1,334 92,830 (88,192)
New leases – 9,159 – 9,159 (8,722)
Depreciation (2,120) (42,964) (3,730) (48,814) –
Lease modification 6,414 12,429 14,379 33,222 (32,303)
Reassessment of lease liabilities – (1,449) – (1,449) 1,449
Imputed interest expenses on 
 lease liabilities – – – – (5,230)
Lease payments – – – – 39,922

     

At end of the reporting period 5,345 67,620 11,983 84,948 (93,076)
     

Current portion – – – – (49,224)
Non-current portion 5,345 67,620 11,983 84,948 (43,852)

     

Net carrying amount 5,345 67,620 11,983 84,948 (93,076)
     

Analysis of lease liabilities:

2020
HK$’000

Related parties
 Cyber Building Limited (“Cyber Building”) 16,901
 Fortune Goldman Limited (“Fortune Goldman”) 8,244
 Happy Gear Limited (“Happy Gear”) 3,803
 Denmark Investments Limited (“Denmark Investments”) 5,910

 

34,858

Third parties 58,218
 

93,076
 

These are related companies of the Group as Mr. Tso is the director and controlling shareholder of Cyber Building, 
Fortune Goldman, Happy Gear and Denmark Investments.

The Group leases office premises, warehouse and various retail shops for its daily operations with lease terms 
ranging from two to three years. The interest expenses on lease liabilities are set out in note 9 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Analysis of lease liabilities: (Continued)

Restrictions or covenants
The Group is required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the properties in their original 
condition at the end of the lease.

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease payment:
 Short-term leases – –
 Operating lease payments – 50,066

  

Expenses recognised in profit or loss – 50,066
  

Total cash outflow for leases 39,922 50,066
  

Extension and termination options
The lease contracts of warehouse and retail shops contain an extension option. These options aim to provide 
flexibility to the Group in managing the leased assets. The extension option in the lease of the warehouse is 
normally exercised while the extension option in the leases of retail shops may or may not be exercised because 
the Group could replace the shops without significant cost or business disruption. The Group seldom exercises 
options that were not included in the lease liabilities. During the year ended 31 March 2020, about 15% of lease 
contracts contain an extension option. The undiscounted potential future lease payments not included in lease 
liabilities amounted to HK$14,112,000.

Commitments under leases
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has no commitment for short-term leases.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, 
which were payable as follows:

2019
HK$’000

Within one year 43,449
In the second to fifth year inclusive 54,778

 

98,227
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16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and movements thereon during the year:

Tax loss
Depreciation

allowance
ECL

provision Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2018 – 788 304 1,092
Credit to profit or loss – 86 394 480

    

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 – 874 698 1,572
Credit to profit or loss 1,148 134 166 1,448

    

At 31 March 2020 1,148 1,008 864 3,020
    

17. INVENTORIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods, at cost 79,014 75,272
  

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total gross carrying amount 53,779 50,793
Less: allowance for credit losses (5,591) (4,236)

  

48,188 46,557
  

Generally, the Group did not grant any credit period to its retail customers. Credit period of 30–180 days is granted 
to customers with bulk purchases, including PRC Distributors.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the 
invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

0–90 days 17,037 13,101
91–180 days 821 2,080
181–365 days 512 18,613
Over 365 days 29,818 12,763

  

48,188 46,557
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying 
amounts of HK$38,827,000 (2019: HK$35,213,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past 
due balances, HK$35,676,000 (2019: HK$30,149,000) have been past due 90 days or more and are not 
considered as in default. With reference to the historical records, past experience and also available reasonable 
and supportive forward-looking information, the management of the Group does not consider these trade 
receivables as credit impaired. These customers have good business relationship with the Group and their recurring 
overdue balances have satisfactory settlement history.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in note 36.

19. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental and utility deposits (a) 10,197 11,723
Rental prepayment (a) – 3,660
Prepayments and others 5,613 1,373
Other receivables and deposits 2,432 3,145
Payment for life insurance policies 20 – 6,070

  

18,242 25,971
  

Analysed as:
 Non-current 8,216 17,156
 Current 10,026 8,815

  

18,242 25,971
  

Note:

(a) There were rental deposits paid to Cyber Building of HK$1,440,000 (2019: HK$1,440,000), Fortune Goldman of 
HK$420,000 (2019: Nil), Happy Gear of HK$505,000 (2019: HK$505,000) and Denmark Investments of HK$560,000 
(2019: Nil), respectively, as at 31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2019, there were rental prepayment paid to Denmark Investments of HK$840,000, Fortune Goldman of 
HK$1,230,000 and Cyber Building of HK$1,590,000.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are set out in 
note 36.
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Payments for life insurance policies
 — First life insurance policy (the “First Policy”) (a) 2,197 –
 — Second life insurance policy (the “Second Policy”) (b) 4,258 –

  

6,455 –
  

(a) In 2012, the Group entered into a life insurance policy with an insurance company to insure a director of the 
Company. Under this policy, the Group is the beneficiary and policy holder and the total insured sum is 
United States Dollar (“USD”) 1,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,800,000). The Group paid a single premium of 
USD250,000 (equivalent to HK$1,950,000) at inception. The Group can, at any time, withdraw cash based 
on the account value of the policy (“Account Value”) at the date of withdrawal, which is determined by the 
gross premium paid plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned and minus any charges made in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the policy. If withdrawal is made between the 1st to 15th policy 
year, there is a specified amount of surrender charge deducted from Account Value. This insurance company 
will pay the Group a guaranteed interest at 4.2% per annum for the first year and a variable return per annum 
afterwards (with minimum guaranteed interest rate of 3% per annum) during the effective period of the policy.

(b) In 2012, the Group also entered into a life insurance policy with another insurance company to insure the 
same director of the Company. Under this policy, the Group is the beneficiary and policy holder and the total 
insured sum is USD2,507,610 (equivalent to HK$19,559,000). The Group paid a single premium of 
USD500,000 (equivalent to HK$3,900,000) at inception. The Group can, at any time, withdraw cash based 
on the Account Value at the date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium paid plus 
accumulated guaranteed interest earned and minus any charges made in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the policy. If withdrawal is made between the 1st to 18th policy year, there is a specified amount 
of surrender charge deducted from Account Value. This insurance company will pay the Group a guaranteed 
interest at 4.25% per annum for the first year and a variable return per annum afterwards (with minimum 
guaranteed interest rate of 2.5% per annum) during the effective period of the policy.

As represented by the directors of the Company, the Group will not terminate the policies nor withdraw cash prior 
to the 15th policy year for the First Policy and the 18th policy year for the Second Policy and the expected life of 
the policies remained unchanged from the initial recognition. The balance of the payments for life insurance policies 
is denominated in USD, being a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary.

The fair value of the payments for life insurance policies is determined by reference to the surrender cash value of 
the life insurance policies at the end of the reporting period, together with the guaranteed interest as mentioned 
above.

On 1 April 2019, the Group classified the payments for life insurance policies as financial assets at FVPL as the 
Group’s contractual rights to cash flows do not represent contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

No adjustment on the fair value gain or loss to the retained profits at 1 April 2019 is necessary as management 
considered the carrying amount of the payments for life insurance policies at 31 March 2019 (HK$2,022,000 for the 
First Policy and HK$4,048,000 for the Second Policy) approximated to their fair value as at that date.
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21. AMOUNT DUE (TO) FROM A DIRECTOR
The amount due is non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Details of the amount due (to) from a director are as follows:

At 31 March
At 1 April

2018

Greatest amount outstanding 
during the year ended

 31 March
  

2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Tso (2,858) 1,337 35,880 1,401 36,231
     

Details of impairment assessment of amount due from a director as at 31 March 2019 are set out in note 36.

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES
The amounts due are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Details of the amounts due from related companies are as follows:

At 31 March
At 1 April

2018

Greatest amount outstanding 
during the year ended 

31 March
  

2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cyber Building – 800 57,547 800 57,547
     

Mr. Tso is the director and controlling shareholder of these related companies.

Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from related companies as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are set 
out in note 36.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank balances and cash 5,500 37,321
Pledged bank deposit with maturity of three months or less 65,000 65,453
Bank overdrafts (note 27) (10,003) (7,548)

  

As stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows 60,497 95,226
  

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The pledged bank deposit of 
HK$65,000,000 (2019: HK$65,453,000) is pledged to a bank to secure banking facilities granted to the Group and 
is made with maturity of three months or less, and earns interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are set out in note 36.
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24. TRADE PAYABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 17,827 19,186
  

The credit period on purchases of goods is 90 to 180 days. The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables 
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

0–30 days 6,894 6,480
31–60 days 501 1,524
61–90 days 896 5,358
91–120 days 140 1,340
121–180 days 3,478 2,379
Over 180 days 5,918 2,105

  

17,827 19,186
  

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued charges 2,912 3,118
Salaries payable 1,555 1,469
Other payables 2,970 1,902

  

Other payables and accrued charges 7,437 6,489
  

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same year) of 
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the reporting period 7,976 7,576
Recognised as revenue (7,771) (7,576)
Receipt of advances or recognition of receivables 6,819 7,976

  

At end of the reporting period 7,024 7,976
  

When the Group receives a deposit before the delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start 
of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, no contract liabilities were expected to be settled after more than 12 months.
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2020 2019

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured and guaranteed:
 Bank loans 54,076 122,238
 Bank overdrafts 23 10,003 7,548
 Trust receipt loans 3,862 3,016

  

(a) 67,941 132,802
Unsecured and guaranteed:
 Bank loan (b) 1,386 4,900

  

Total bank borrowings 69,327 137,702
  

Unsecured and unguaranteed:
 Other borrowing (c) 30,000 –

  

Total bank and other borrowings 99,327 137,702
  

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount repayable based on scheduled repayment terms:
 On demand or within one year 57,941 29,402
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings (shown under current liabilities) 
 contain a repayment on demand clause:
 Within one year 41,386 108,300

  

99,327 137,702
  

Notes:

(a) These bank borrowings carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 2.0% to 2.5% (2019: HIBOR 
plus 1.0% to 4.0%) or a spread below Prime Rate/Standard Bills Rate quoted by the banks per annum and the effective 
interest rate is from 2.29% to 5.25% (2019: 2.88% to 5.38%) per annum as at 31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2020, bank loans of HK$54,076,000, trust receipt loans of HK$3,862,000 and bank overdrafts of 
HK$10,003,000 are secured by pledged bank deposit of HK$65,000,000, and payments for life insurance policies with 
carrying amount of HK$4,258,000.

As at 31 March 2019, bank loans of HK$122,238,000, trust receipt loans of HK$3,016,000 and bank overdrafts of 
HK$7,548,000 were secured by properties owned by Cyber Building, Happy Gear and Wealth Goldman Limited (“Wealth 
Goldman”), pledged bank deposit of HK$65,453,000, payments for life insurance policies with carrying amount of 
HK$4,048,000, corporate guarantee from Wealth Goldman, Fortune Goldman and Cyber Building, and personal guarantee 
from Mr. Tso.

(b) As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowing of HK$1,386,000 (2019: HK$4,900,000) is guaranteed by a group entity.

(c) Other borrowing from an independent third party, which holds a money lenders licence, as at 31 March 2020 was 
unsecured, interest-bearing at 2.5% per month and repaid on 27 April 2020.
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28. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares Amount

HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
 At 1 April 2018 38,000,000 380
 Increase in authorised share capital 4,962,000,000 49,620

  

 At 31 March 2019 and 2020 5,000,000,000 50,000
  

Issued and fully paid:
 At 1 April 2018 1 –
 Capitalisation issue 1,499,999,999 15,000
 Issue of shares 500,000,000 5,000

  

 At 31 March 2019 and 2020 2,000,000,000 20,000
  

29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure in respect of property, plant and equipment 
 contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 354 400

  

30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group 
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are 
each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the 
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for voluntary contribution, no 
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years. The 
cap of contribution amount is HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions paid or payable to the funds by the Group 
at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, there were no significant forfeited contributions which arose upon employees leaving 
the schemes before they were fully vested in the contributions and which were available to reduce the contributions 
payable by the Group in the future.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to HK$764,000 (2019: HK$768,000) 
during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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31. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN A SUBSIDIARY THAT DO NOT RESULT IN A LOSS OF 
CONTROL
On 31 March 2020, the Group completed acquisition of the remaining 30% equity interest in Petracer’s China 
Limited (“PCL”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary, from the non-controlling interests of the subsidiary, at a cash 
consideration of HK$100,000.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the Company’s voting rights in PCL, through RBMS Holdings Limited, 
increased from 70% to 100% on 31 March 2020. The results and financial position of PCL continue to be included 
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The financial impact of PCL to the consolidated financial 
statements is set out as follows:

HK$’000

Net consideration paid to non-controlling interests (100)
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 94

 

Recognised directly in equity (6)
 

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following transactions 
with its related parties during the year:

Name of related company Nature of transactions 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cyber Building Lease payments/rental expenses 6,360 6,360
Denmark Investments Lease payments/rental expenses 3,360 3,360
Happy Gear Lease payments/rental expenses 2,520 2,520
Fortune Goldman Lease payments/rental expenses 4,920 4,920
Asian Wealth Limited Lease payments/rental expenses – 900

  

17,160 18,060
  

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on DIA, for the year ended 31 March 2020, lease arrangements with related 
companies are accounted for as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as detailed in note 15.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had operating lease commitments for future minimum payments under non-
cancellable operating leases with the above related companies, which fall due as follows:

2019
HK$’000

Within one year 14,520
In the second to fifth year 22,000

 

36,520
 

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, certain related companies provided corporate guarantees to 
banks for banking facilities granted to the Group. Details are disclosed in note 27 (a).

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, Mr. Tso provided several guarantees to guarantee the payment 
and due performance of the group entities to the landlords.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group provided corporate guarantee to banks for general 
banking facilities granted to the related companies. Details are disclosed in note 34.

Compensation of key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the Company, and their remunerations are 
disclosed in note 8 to these consolidated financial statements.

33. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes.

Amount
due to

a related
company Lease liabilities

Bank loans, 
trust receipt 

loans and 
other

borrowings Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2018 6,463 – 128,196 134,659

Net cash flows (6,463) – (2,487) (8,950)
Finance costs recognised – – 4,445 4,445

    

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 – – 130,154 130,154
Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 – 88,192 – 88,192
Net cash flows – (34,692) (45,872) (80,564)
Finance costs recognised – – 5,042 5,042
New leases – 8,722 – 8,722
Lease modification – 32,303 – 32,303
Reassessment of lease liabilities – (1,449) – (1,449)

    

At 31 March 2020 – 93,076 89,324 182,400
    

(b) Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group acquired assets by means of lease arrangement in respect 
of assets with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of HK$42,381,000.
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34. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
On 29 February 2012, the Group provided a corporate guarantee to a bank in relation to the granting of banking 
facilities of HK$28,500,000 to Cyber Building for a maturity period of 15 years. The banking facilities were also 
pledged by premises in Hong Kong owned by Cyber Building. The fair values of the financial guarantee as at the 
date of grant were arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date by Access Partner Consultancy & 
Appraisals Limited (“Access Partner”). The initial fair value of this financial guarantee was insignificant. During both 
years, there was no default payment by Cyber Building. As at 31 March 2020, Cyber Building had fully settled the 
outstanding balance and the guarantee was released. At 31 March 2019, the banking facilities utilised amounted to 
approximately HK$16,512,000.

On 17 April 2013, the Group provided a corporate guarantee to a bank in relation to the granting of banking 
facilities of HK$47,500,000 to Happy Gear for a maturity period of 20 years. The banking facilities were also 
pledged by premises in Hong Kong owned by Happy Gear. The fair values of the financial guarantee as at date of 
grant were arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date by Access Partner. The initial fair value of 
this financial guarantee was insignificant. During both years, there was no default payment by Happy Gear. At 31 
March 2020, Happy Gear had fully settled the outstanding balance and the guarantee was released subsequent to 
the end of the reporting period. At 31 March 2019, the banking facilities utilised amounted to approximately 
HK$34,385,000.

On 16 April 2014, the Group provided a corporate guarantee to a bank in relation to the granting of banking 
facilities of HK$26,000,000 to Wealth Goldman for a maturity period of 12 years. The banking facilities were also 
pledged by premises in Hong Kong owned by Wealth Goldman. The fair values of the financial guarantee as at date 
of grant were arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date by Access Partner. The initial fair value of 
this financial guarantee was insignificant. During both years, there was no default payment by Wealth Goldman. As 
at 31 March 2020, Wealth Goldman had fully settled the outstanding balance and the guarantee was released. At 
31 March 2019, the banking facilities utilised amounted to approximately HK$16,564,000.

On 17 October 2016, the Group provided a corporate guarantee to a bank in relation to the granting of banking 
facilities of HK$10,000,000 to Cyber Building for a maturity period of 20 years. The banking facilities were also 
pledged by a premise in Hong Kong owned by Cyber Building. The fair values of the financial guarantee as at date 
of grant were arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date by Access Partner. The initial fair value of 
this financial guarantee was insignificant. During both years, there was no default payment by Cyber Building. As at 
31 March 2020, Cyber Building had fully settled the outstanding balance and the guarantee was released. At 31 
March 2019, the banking facilities utilised amounted to approximately HK$9,093,000.

On 4 October 2018, the Group provided a corporate guarantee to a bank in relation to the granting of banking 
facilities of HK$50,000,000 to Wealth Goldman for a maturity period of 2 months and rollover. The banking facilities 
were also pledged by a premise in Hong Kong owned by Wealth Goldman. The initial fair value of this financial 
guarantee was insignificant according to assessment performed by the management of the Company. During both 
years, there was no default payment by Wealth Goldman. As at 31 March 2020, Wealth Goldman had fully settled 
the outstanding balance and the guarantee was released. At 31 March 2019, the banking facilities utilised 
amounted to approximately HK$30,000,000.
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt balance and equity balance. Equity balance consists of equity 
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves including retained profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on an on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the 
management of the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based 
on recommendations of the management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through 
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share repurchase as well as the issue of new debt.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
(A) Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Finance assets at fair value through profit or loss 6,455 –
Financial assets at amortised cost 131,317 166,336

  

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 127,449 163,377

  

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged 
bank deposit, bank balances and cash, trade payables, balances with director and related companies, other 
payables and accrued charges and bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in 
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk 
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out 
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk
Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which exposes it to foreign currency risk. Approximately 
99% of the purchases are denominated in the currencies other than the functional currency of the 
relevant group entities during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and monetary liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Euro
(“EUR”) USD

Renminbi
(“RMB”)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2020
Bank balances and cash 203 166 81
Trade payables 11,017 – 169
Bank borrowings 3,862 – –

   

As at 31 March 2019
Bank balances and cash 209 162 81
Trade payables 18,196 40 –
Bank borrowings 4,113 – –

   

Sensitivity analysis
The Group’s exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in USD and RMB is considered insignificant.

At the end of the reporting period, if EUR had been 10% (2019: 10%) strengthened/weakened against 
HKD while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss for the year would be increased/
decreased by HK$1,468,000 (2019: net profit would be decreased/increased by HK$1,845,000). 10% 
is the sensitivity rate used and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in foreign exchange rates.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as the 
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to the Group’s bank balances, payments 
for life insurance policies and variable-rate bank borrowings.

The Group currently does not have interest rate risk hedging policy. However, the management of the 
Group closely monitors its exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk as a result of changes in 
market interest rate and will consider hedging changes in market interest rates should the need arise.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rate risk on bank 
borrowings. The sensitivity analysis is prepared assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end 
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole period. No sensitivity analysis is provided on 
bank balances and payments for life insurance policies as the management of the Group considers that 
the interest rate fluctuation on bank balances and payments for life insurance policies is minimal and 
the impact from the exposure to interest rate risk sensitivity is considered insignificant.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all 
other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss (2019: net profit) would be increased or 
decreased (2019: decreased or increased) by approximately HK$337,000 (2019: HK$575,000).

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the 
interest rate risk as the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during 
the year.

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
At the end of reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial 
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial 
guarantees issued by the Group is arising from:

•	 the	respective	recognised	financial	assets	as	stated	 in	 the	consolidated	statement	of	 financial	
position; and

•	 the	financial	guarantees	disclosed	in	note	34.

Trade receivables from contracts with customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses 
an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines the credit 
limits granted to the customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. 
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue 
debts.

The Group trades with a large number of individual customers. During both years, the Group has 
concentration of credit risk with exposure limited to certain customers. Approximately 75% (2019: 57%) 
of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 March 2020, are from the PRC Distributors. These customers 
are within the same industry of the Group. The management of the Group closely monitors the 
subsequent settlement of the customers. Other than disclosed above, the Group does not have 
significant credit risk exposure to any single individual customer.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment (i) under ECL model individually for trade 
receivables from the PRC Distributors, trade receivables with aggregated outstanding balances 
exceeding HK$1,000,000 and credit-impaired trade receivables and (ii) using provision matrix on the 
remaining trade receivables with reference to the Group’s historical observed default rates, as adjusted 
for forward-looking information and the past due status of the trade receivables.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables
The management of the Group makes periodic collective assessment as well as individual assessment 
on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records, past 
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable, supportive and forward-
looking information that is available. The management of the Group believes that there is no material 
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of deposits and other receivables. ECL on 
deposits and other receivables is insignificant at 31 March 2020 and 2019 as the exposure of deposits 
and other receivables is insignificant.

Pledged bank deposit and bank balances
The credit risks on pledged bank deposit and bank balances are limited because the counterparties are 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Financial guarantee contracts
The management of the Group continuously monitors the credit quality and financial conditions of the 
guaranteed parties in favour of which the Group has issued financial guarantee contracts to ensure that 
the Group will not suffer significant credit losses as a result of the failure of the guaranteed parties on 
the repayment of the relevant loans. In this regard, the management of the Group considers that the 
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal 
credit rating Description Trade receivables

Other financial 
assets/other item

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of 
default and does not have any past-
due amounts

Lifetime ECL 
(non credit-impaired)

12-month ECL

Medium risk Debtor frequently repays after due 
dates but usually settle within 90 
days after due date

Lifetime ECL 
(non credit-impaired)

12-month ECL

High risk Debtor frequently repays after 90 
days after due date

Lifetime ECL 
(non credit-impaired)

12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition 
through information developed 
internally or external resources 
other than ageing analysis.

Lifetime ECL
(non credit-impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(non credit-impaired)

Loss There is evidence indicating the 
asset is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)

Write-off There is evidence indicating the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and the Group has no realistic 
prospect of recovery or trade 
receivables are over two years past 
due

Amount is written-off Amount is 
written-off
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets which are subject to 
ECL assessment:

Notes
External 

credit rating
Internal 

credit rating
12-month or
lifetime ECL

Gross carrying amounts
 

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at 
 amortised cost
Trade receivables 
 (PRC Distributors and 
 debtors with aggregated 
 outstanding balances 
 exceed HK$1,000,000)

18 N/A Medium risk Lifetime ECL 11,514 25,005
High risk

(note i)
Lifetime ECL 36,577 16,297

Trade receivables 
 (credit-impaired)

18 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired

273 256

Trade receivables 
 (other customers)

18 N/A (note i) Lifetime ECL 
(provision matrix)

5,415 9,235

Deposits and other 
 receivables

19 N/A (note ii) 12-month ECL 12,629 14,868

Amount due from a director 21 N/A (note ii) 12-month ECL – 1,337
Amounts due from 
 related companies

22 N/A (note ii) 12-month ECL – 800

Pledged bank deposit 23 A1 N/A 12-month ECL 65,000 65,453
Bank balances 23 Baa2 to A1 N/A 12-month ECL 5,500 37,271

Other item
Financial guarantee 
 contracts (note iv)

34 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL – 106,554
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes:

(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss 
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for trade receivables from the PRC Distributors and trade receivables with 
aggregated outstanding balances over HK$1,000,000 which are assessed individually or credit-impaired, the 
Group determines the ECL of trade receivables from other customers by using a provision matrix through 
grouping of various debtors that have similar loss patterns, after considering the past due status of respective 
trade receivables.

The estimated loss rates on trade receivables are estimated based on historical credit loss of the debtors and 
study of other corporates’ default and recovery data from international credit-rating agencies including 
Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s, and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the current 
and forecasted economic growth rates in the Hong Kong, which reflect the general economic conditions of 
the industry in which the debtors operate).

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ past due ageing to assess the 
impairment for its other customers in relation to its operation because these other customers consist of a 
large number of small customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ 
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table provides 
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables from other customers which are assessed 
based on a provision matrix as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 within lifetime ECL (non credit-impaired).

Gross carrying amount

2020 2019
Average loss rate Amount Average loss rate Amount

% HK$’000 % HK$’000

Non past due and
 1–30 days past due 0.05 2,959 0.50 1,981
 31–90 days past due 2.06 8 2.06 232
 Over 90 days past due 13.11 2,448 10.45 7,022

  

5,415 9,235
  

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group reversed impairment allowance of HK$424,000 (2019: 
provided impairment allowance of HK$473,000) for trade receivables based on the provision matrix and 
impairment allowance of HK$1,779,000 (2019: HK$1,919,000) was provided for trade receivables which are 
assessed individually.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to assess whether 
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

Past due

Not past due/
not fixed 

repayment 
terms Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2020
 Rental and utility deposits – 10,197 10,197
 Other receivables and deposits – 2,432 2,432

   

At 31 March 2019
 Rental and utility deposits – 11,723 11,723
 Other receivables and deposits – 3,145 3,145
 Amount due from a director – 1,337 1,337
 Amounts due from related companies – 800 800

   

Based on the assessment of the management, the ECL on deposits and other receivables, amounts due from 
a director and related companies is insignificant.

(iii) External credit rating are from international credit-rating agency Moody’s.

(iv) For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the Group had guaranteed under the respective 
contracts was HK$162,000,000 as at 31 March 2019. At 31 March 2020, all the financial guarantees granted 
by the Group had been released.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for trade 
receivables which is measured under lifetime ECL:

Lifetime ECL
 (non credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2019 3,980 256 4,236
New financial assets originated 1,338 17 1,355

   

At 31 March 2020 5,318 273 5,591
   

As at 1 April 2018
— As previously reported – – –
— Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 9 1,844 – 1,844

   

— As restated 1,844 – 1,844
Changes due to financial instruments 
 recognised at 1 April 2018 (777) 256 (521)
New financial assets originated 2,913 – 2,913

   

At 31 March 2019 3,980 256 4,236
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigates the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of bank 
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Effective 
interest rate

On 
demand

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to
 2 years

2-5 
years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow

Total 
carrying 
amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2020

Trade payables N/A – 12,387 5,440 – – 17,827 17,827
Other payables and accrued
 charges N/A – 7,437 – – – 7,437 7,437
Amount due to a director N/A 2,858 – – – – 2,858 2.858
Bank overdrafts N/A 10,003 – – – – 10,003 10,003
Bank and other borrowings 12.34 40,096 33,152 17,254 – – 90,502 89,324
Lease liabilities 5.85 6,487 16,729 38,027 31,117 5,889 98,249 93,076

       

59,444 69,705 60,721 31,117 5,889 226,876 220,525
       

As at 31 March 2019

Trade payables N/A – 11,182 8,004 – – 19,186 19,186
Other payables and accrued
 charges N/A – 6,489 – – – 6,489 6,489
Bank overdrafts N/A 7,548 – – – – 7,548 7,548
Bank and other borrowings 3.70 104,955 9,853 15,448 – – 130,256 130,154
Financial guarantee contracts N/A 106,554 – – – – 106,554 –

       

219,057 27,524 23,452 – – 270,033 163,377
       

The amounts included above for variable interest instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are 
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates 
determined at the end of the reporting period.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group 
could be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is 
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. At 31 March 2020, all financial guarantees granted by 
the Group had been released. Details of the financial guarantees are set out in note 34.

(C) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis
The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost using discounted cash flows analysis. The management of the Group considers that the 
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in these consolidated 
financial statements approximate their fair values.
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in the 
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in 
HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” with the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

•	 Level	1	 (highest	 level):	quoted	prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	active	markets	 for	 identical	assets	or	 liabilities	that	the	
Group can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	2:	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	
either directly or indirectly;

•	 Level	3	(lowest	level):	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

2020
Level 3

HK$’000

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at FVPL
— Unlisted investments — payments for life insurance policies 6,455

 

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

2020
HK$’000

Total unrealised gain included in profit or loss 446
 

The fair value of the payments for life insurance policies is determined by reference to the surrender cash 
value, which is primarily based on the performance of the underlying investment portfolio, reported by the 
insurance company on a regular basis.

b) Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure, but not measured at fair value
All other financial assets and liabilities including trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other 
receivables, amounts due from related companies, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade 
payables, other payables and accrued charges, amount due to a director, bank and other borrowings and 
lease liabilities are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 
2019.
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38. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
In addition to the events disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 
following subsequent events:

(a) Placing of shares
On 11 June 2020, the Company allotted and issued an aggregate of 400,000,000 ordinary shares of 
HK$0.01 each for cash to not less than six independent investors at a placing price of approximately 
HK$0.04 per share under the general mandate. The net proceeds of approximately HK$15,680,000 were 
intended to be used for replenishing the working capital of the Group. All shares issued under the placing 
rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

(b) Change in use of proceeds from share offer
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 18 June 2020, the Company decided to reallocate part 
of the net proceeds from the listing originally planned for (i) progressive expansion of retail network in Hong 
Kong; and (ii) strategic acquisition opportunities to strengthen the Group’s market leadership and further 
enhance its competitiveness in the tile retailing industry, to property investments in Hong Kong for rental 
purposes and general working capital purpose. The proposed change of use of the remaining net proceeds 
as at 18 June 2020 is detailed in the section headed “Use of proceeds from the listing” in this annual report.

(c) Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)
In view of the outbreak of COVID-19 in January 2020 in the PRC, the PRC authority has taken nation-wide 
prevention and control measures. The COVID-19 has certain impacts on the business operation of the Group 
and the global economy in general. The extent of such impacts depends on the duration of the pandemic 
and the implementation of regulatory policies and relevant protective measures. The Group would closely 
monitor the development and status of the outbreak of the COVID-19 and continue to assess its impacts on 
the financial position and operating results of the Group and take necessary actions to mitigate any potential 
impact brought by the outbreak of COVID-19.

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group was unable to reliably 
estimate the financial impact of the outbreak of COVID-19.

(d) Advance from a director
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Tso advanced HK$25,800,000 to the Group. The amount 
due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary – –

  

Current assets
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 242 243
Amount due from a subsidiary 98,579 71,282
Bank balances and cash 249 321

  

99,070 71,846
  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 2,257 867
Other borrowing 30,000 –

  

32,257 867
  

NET ASSETS 66,813 70,979
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 20,000 20,000
Reserves 39(a) 46,813 50,979

  

TOTAL EQUITY 66,813 70,979
  

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 
2020 and is signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Simon Tso Ms. Tsui To Fei
Director Director
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Movement of the reserves

Share
premium

Accumulated
losses Total

hK$’000 hK$’000 hK$’000

at 1 april 2018 – (22,401) (22,401)
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year – 119,725 119,725
   

Transactions with owners:
Issue of shares 90,000 – 90,000
capitalisation issue (15,000) – (15,000)
Transaction costs directly attributable to issue of shares (12,345) – (12,345)
dividend declared – (109,000) (109,000)

   

62,655 (109,000) (46,345)
   

at 31 March 2019 and 1 april 2019 62,655 (11,676) 50,979
   

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – (4,166) (4,166)
   

At 31 March 2020 62,655 (15,842) 46,813
   

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The company has direct and indirect equity interests in the following subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 and 2019:

Name of subsidiary

Place and 
date of 

incorporation
Place of 

operation

Issued and 
fully paid 

share capital

Equity interest attributable 
to the Company
as at 31 March

Principal
activities

2020 2019

Directly held:
rBMS holdings Limited BVI 

5 October 2015
hong Kong hK$1 

Ordinary shares
100% 100% Investment 

 holding

Indirectly held:
Fortune rich Limited hong Kong 

10 July 2009
hong Kong hK$1 

Ordinary shares
100% 100% Leasing of 

 properties for 
 group companies

Petracer’s china Limited hong Kong 
10 november 

2014

hong Kong hK$10,000 
Ordinary shares

100% 70% Trading of tiles

regent Building Material 
 Supplies company Limited

hong Kong 
11 March 1998

hong Kong hK$400 
Ordinary shares

100% 100% Trading of tiles

regent Building Limited hong Kong 
22 February 

2010

hong Kong hK$10,000 
Ordinary shares

100% 100% Leasing of 
 properties for 
 group companies

Jun da hui Limited Macau 
7 november 

2019

Macau Macau Pataca 
25,000 

Ordinary shares

100% – Trading of tiles

all the companies comprising the Group have adopted 31 March as their financial year end date.

none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at 31 March 2020 and 2019 or at any time during both 
years.
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RESULTS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 145,369 166,694 190,839 183,444 202,112
     

(Loss) Profit before taxation (805) 8,882 22,644 37,644 22,168
Taxation 73 (3,083) (5,538) (6,972) (7,815)

     

(Loss) Profit for the year (732) 5,799 17,106 30,672 14,353
     

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (655) 5,824 17,077 30,637 14,229
 Non-controlling interests (77) (25) 29 35 124

     

(732) 5,799 17,106 30,672 14,353
     

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 316,129 259,466 309,269 270,259 294,389
Total liabilities (228,889) (171,394) (199,111) (177,207) (232,009)

     

Net assets 87,240 88,072 110,158 93,052 62,380
     

Equity attributable to owners of 
 the Company 87,240 87,901 109,962 92,885 62,248
Non-controlling interest – 171 196 167 132

     

Total equity 87,240 88,072 110,158 93,052 62,380
     

Notes: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for each of the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018 and of the 
assets, liabilities and equity as at 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018 are extracted from the Prospectus.

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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